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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report ‘
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, The Group
financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the 'Company'} and its
subsidiary undartalkings {Subsidiaries’) drawa up lo 31 December 2042, Jogelher these make up 'Circle’ or the 'Group'.

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 December 2016 and is a holding company within the Group.

Principal activitics

The Graup is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, trealing privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at its
54 hospitals and clinics across the UK. The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners, The
Group’s business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors,
nurses and all other staff who work in our hospitals and clinics to put patients’ needs first.

Review of ¢perating and business perfermance and key performance indicators (JXP1s)
The principal financial KPIs for the Group are hospital caseload {activity), revenue and profit before tax.

Hospital caseload (activity)

The Group carried out 294,000 procedures during 2022 and received 1.6 million outpatient visits, compared with 283,000
procedures and 1.6 million outpatient visits during 2021.

Revenue
Revenue was £1,092 million for the year to 31 December 2022 (2021: £1,052 million),

Profit before tax
The loss before tax from continuing operations was £87.4 million (2021: £51.4 million}).

Operating performance

The Group continues to focus relentlessly on providing the highest quality care for its patients. At the end of 2022 the group
had achieved Care Quality Control (CQC) ratings of ‘Ounistanding' at two of its hospitals and ‘Good' ratings at a further 34
hospitals/clinics, Healthcare Improvement Scotland (F1S) and Healthcare Improvement Wales (HIW) have rated atl
hospitals in those locations as 'Good',

The operating performance of the Group during 2022 was impacted by the ongoing presence of the Covid-19 pandemic,
with the Group continuing to support the wider UK health system in its response to the pandemic as well as returning to
previous commissioning and operating arrangemonts with its major customers. The Omicren variant resulted in increased
Covid infections across the UK which was a source of shorter-term disraption in the early months of 2022, This subsided
through 2022 and has had limited impact to date in 2023. This is reflected in the year-on-year increase in hospital caseload
and the build back towards the pre-pandemic treatment pathways and patient flows. The Group saw a substantial increase in
demand for treatment from patients paying for themselves, alongside increases in activity from private medical insurance
{PMI) providers. NHS commissioning activity remained below pre-pandemic levels in 2022,

Exceptional items of £39.2 million (2021: £11.6 million) recorded within operating profit relate to the following items:

+ costs of £0.6 million (2021: £4.1 million) in relation to the ongoing Competition & Markets Authority review of the
Birmingham market following the acquisition of the BMI Healthcare group in January 2020;

+ legal costs of £0.5m (2021: £nil) in relation to the May 2022 debt refinancing;

+ other exceptional costs £0.2m (2021: £0.1m); and

s the Group incurred £37.9 million (2021: £7.4 million) of impairment charges following the assessinent of assel
impainmnent.

TRAE T e T
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Operating performance (continucd)

Finance costs of £137,788 (2021: £137,376) were incurred during the year. Finance costs consisted of the following:

+ £119.3 million (2021: £118.5 million) in relation to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use properties;

* £1.4 million (2021: £0.9 million) in relation to the interest expense incurred on IFRS 16 right of use equipment assets held
an finance leases;

« interest on senior facilities of £10.5 million (2021: £18§.0 million); and

« a one off interest charge of £6.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the write off of the loan issue costs on the previous facilities on

refinancing of these facilities during the year (note 19).

The tax credit for the year was £7.0 million (2021 charge of £1.3 million). ‘Fhe resulting net loss after tax for the period
was £80.4 million (2021: £52.7 million). This reflects the non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as

the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges.

Financial position

The Group's balance sheet as at 31 Deceniber 2022 showed a total deficit of £25.7 million, compared with total equity of
£43 .4 million as at 31 December 2021. The deficit position results from the cumulative impact of the non-cash accounting
charges on leases required under intcrnational accounting standards (IFRS16). In the early years of the leases, this creates a
non-cash accounting charge in excess of the cash rent paid by the Group. The Group's financial position remains strong,
generating cash from operations to fund capital investment and with £100.0 million of committed undrawn facilitics
avajlable to it af the date of approving these accounts,

Outlook

The Group's large hospital network, capacity and geographical fvotprint, including its intensive care facilities, means that
the Group is well placed to serve strong demand for diagnostic, surgical and other trcatment demand from patients, on
private pay and group NHS pathways. However, this may be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic or a new

pandemic,

The inflationary pressures across the UK continue to impact the Group with the cost of providing care increasing with
particular pressure on siaffing and energy costs in particular.

Management has sought to attract and retain high quality staff and ensure fair pay across the workforce, while seeking to
reduce reliance on agency staffing to manage labour costs appropriately. The industrial action by doctors and nursing staff
in the NHS has had no discernible impact on the Company to date.

The Group utilises energy price hedging to provide some price certainty for gas and power costs.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Capital projects

The Group made a significant investment in its hospitals and technology during 2022, to mcrease capacity to meet current
and future demand and to continue to provide excellence in patient treatment in safe envivonments. The Group invested a
total of £86.6 million (including £16.3 million of finance lease funded assets but excluding additions to Right of Use
Property Assets under IFRS 16), including:

» multi-million pound investment in the hospital facilities in Aberdeen, Glasgow, Birmingham, Bath and Londan;

* installation of major imaging cquipment across the estate including renewal of 5 MRI, 4 CT and 7 Digital X-Ray scanners
and a further 2 mobile MRI and 2 mobile CT scanners to enable flexible depioyment to areas of highest diagnostic need;

« investment in medical technology to promote excellence in patient treatment, including over £7.0 million investment in
replacing and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate;

* a ncw cardiac catheterisation 1ab at the Group's Coventry hospital to improve access to rapid diagnostics and treatment for
patients;

« new ward capacity at our hospital in Camarthen, Wales to deliver increased capacity to support patient needs in the area;

« completion of a new modular theatre at the Beaumont hospital in Bolton to increase capacity and provide increased access
lo care in the area; and

+ redevelopment of the othopaedic facilifics at our Guildford haospital to allow improved access to first class care for
patients in the local community.

Financing and treasury transactions

In May 2022, the Group extinguished and refinanced its previous debt facilities with a three year revolving credit facility of
£250 million provided by a group of five banks. An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that Lime,
with £160 million remaining drawn ag at 31 December 2022 and the remaining £90 million remaining available to the
Group,

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires all companies to disclose and discuss the principal risks and uncertainties that they face
which, in most cases, are normal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governance committees, and through the use of a regularly updated and reviewed risk register, and risk is discussed and
actioned on a regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financial risks including politicat risk, reputational risk and cyber risk,
The Group's activities also expose it to a number of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, cash flow risk
and liquidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives t0 manage these risks is governed by the group’s policies approved by
the board of directars, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage thesc risks. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise visk identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Board of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk. This is managed via the Governance
and Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impact are discussed by the Integrated Governance
Committee {"IGC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Committee.

The following provides an overview of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description, where
relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Stratcgic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 {continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Adegirecy of insurance scope and coverage

"The Group is subject to litigation for actions by third parties or may be found liable for damages which may not be covered
by its insurance policies if not covered due to policy limitations or exclusion, or failure 1o comply with the terms of the
policy. This could lead to financial exposure for claim value not covered by the insurance policies or increase insurance
premiums impacting future financial periods. Regular reviews are conducted together with the Group's insurance brokers to
ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group. Further frequent communication with the Clinical and
Operational functions to ensure that robust process for capturing and reporting of incidents.

Clinical risk

As with all hospital providers, clinical quality risk is a major consideration. The Group has an integrated clinical
governance structure which is managed by the Chief Medical Officer who sits on the Board. This structure includes scnior
staff across the operational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospital site has its own local governance struciure,
while a team of clinical care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and aperational
policies across all sites. Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framework, manage day to day clinical
risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their findings to the Group’s
Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) which was chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an independent Board
Director. The 1GC in tarn provides risk assurance reports (o the boards of the relevant Group companies including the

Company.
Reputational risk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the focus on providing high
quality care at the Group’s facilities and constantly secking lo improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC
and related assurance reviews.

Contract and price risk

Private medical insurance: The Group is exposed to a highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the Group carries out
considerable activity under a small number of contracts with the major privaie medical insurers, which are subject to
periodic renegotiation as to the access of insurers’ members to the Group’s facilities and to the price of services. Changes to
or the ending of any of these conttacts, or to pricing within them, could affect the levels of activity or profitability of the
Group. The Group manages these risks through active account management, and demonstrating improvement across the
hospital network whether that is through technology and clinical equipment investment or increase scope of services offered
to patients. Additionally, the Group also seeks to maintain good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract
on medium term arrangements and to agree pricing which takes into account potential increases in the Group’s own cost

base over time.

Self-pay: the Group provides medical services to self-pay patients. Inereases in costs as a result of the inflationary pressure
in the UK could vesult in upward pressure on pricing for paticnts, potentially impacting the demand. To mitigate these risks,
the group sceks to maintain reasonable pricing, while still recovering increases in costs where possible.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties {(continued)
Contract and price risk (continued)

NHS: the Group carries out work for the NHS in England under standard contracts with Intergrated Care Boards ("1CBs")
(using the electronic referral service), local contracts with NHS Trusts and occasionally {as during the pandemic through to
early 2021) directly with central NHS organisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent access of NHS
patients to the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future, In general, the Group is paid the standard NHS taxiff
for the work it carries out, so is subject to the uncertainty of future tariff changes which are determined centrally by the
NIIS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable partner to NHS commissioners and consistently
providing high quality services to NHS patients in a cost-effective manner.

The Group's integrated care business delivers an integraled care model, which manages the whole patient pathway for
individual specialities through price capped contracts with the NIS. The Group generally secks to price these capped
contracts at levels that takes account of potentially increasing cost pressures and, where appropriate, to establish contract
terms that enables revenues to be adjusted in line with future annual NHS National Tariff inflation and demographic
growth, All contracts are subject to a public tender process.

Data protection and cybey risk

The Group is subject to data protection and cyber risk from cybercrime, IT systems failure and threats to data protection,
including data theft. The Group manages these risks through regular meetings of its Technology Governance sub-
committec, which has accountability for quality and safety of information and technology systems, assessing risk and
performance, making improvement recommendations and advising the Intergrated Governance Committee and Circle
Group Board. The Group also employs data protection and information sccurity officers to oversee relevant risks, and
carrics out periodic testing of certain risks as part of its overall assurance programme, Further the Group has in place cyber
insurance cover, covering a number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Government policy and regulatory visk

The provision and regulation of healthcare in the UK, including that by the independent sectar, is the subject of periodic
review by government and regulatory bodies. New regulations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the future
which could have adverse effect on demand for the Group’s services {from different payor groups), its operational costs and
the nature and cost of regulatory compliance.

Workforce availability pisk

There is a shortage of nurses and healtheare staff across the UK and overseas, which has led to an increased usage of agency
labour. In the shart term the Company can utilise increased agency staff to mitigate this, However in the medium to long
term, this will impact on profitability and would not be sustainable.

The Group is continues to focus on attracting new talent to the Group, including the use of overseas nurses, while also
aiming to reduce staff turnover via improved staff engagement and competative remuneration.

Supply chain availability risk

The continued impact of the Covid pandemic, the UK's exit from the European Union and the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
resulted in shortages of various components utilised by the Group in its operations. This risk has been managed via the
combination of longer contracted terms with suppliers to safeguard against large price changes, as well the presence of a
warehousing and logistics provider which gives the Group better and increased capacity to hold components with long
replacement leadtimes,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Liflution rivk

Given the global economic conditions, and political uncertainty in Europe, higher levels of inflation have been experienced
with consequent additional pressure on staff costs. The impact on the Group has been an increase in direct costs for goods
and services, not all of which can be covered by increased pricing. To mitigate this risk, wherc possible, the Company
etiters into long term purchase agreements to protect and limit against the full effect of cost inflation. The large majority of
the Group's leases include a cap on the annual increases. Further, customer prices are being reasonably increased where

possible to reflect the increase in costs.
Energy costs

The global economie and political conditions within Europe have also led to large increases in encrgy prices. The Group
had hedged energy pricing untii Q4 of 2022 and so was protected from these increases for the majority of the year, before
experiencing a significant increase in its gas and electricity costs from October 2022, with costs expected to remain high
into 2023. The Group benefited from the government's energy price cap paliey from 1 October 2022 until 31 March 2023,
For subsequent periods, the Group continues to hedge its gas and power pricing where appropriate to protect from higher
future prices in the wholesale markets.

A summary of the Group's electricity usage for the year can be seen in page 15 of the Directors' report.

Interest rate visk

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Commiitice has announced a series of interest rate rises during 2022 and 2023 to
date, Interest on the Circle Group’s new £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based on the Sterling Overnight
Index Average rate (SONIA) and so is exposed fo changes in UK interest rates. The current drawn amount under the facility
at the date of these accounts is £150 million, and a 100 basis point increase in SONIA would result in a £1.5 million

increase in the Circle Group’s annual interest cost.

Credir yisk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, and investments.

The Group's eredit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitoring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks on new customers before credit is provided. The amounts presented in the Statement

of Financial Position are nct of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there is an
identificd loss event which, bascd on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of cash flows.

Cash flow and liguidity risk

In the ordinary course of business, in order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt facilities. The Group
manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
facilities are maintained fo cover any short-term liquidity requircments.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2022 are detailed innote 19,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties {continued)

Environmental and climate change risk

The Circle Group’s energy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach fo environmental manageinent, is disclosed in the
Directors® report on page 15, The Directors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the potential impacts on

the business.

Other than those matters disclosed on page 15 of the Directors’ report relating consideration of the environmental impact of
capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would not have a material impact on the operating
model of performance of the business.

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 20086, directors of a company have a duty to promote the success of the company.
Specifically, it requires the director of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would most likely
promote the suecess of the company for the benefit of its merbers as a whole. In performing their duties under section 172,
the directors of the Company have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1) as follows:

a) the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has set long term strategic objectives for the Company focused on:

- clinical quality, patieni experience and market leading reputation;

« attracting and retaining the best people;

- investment in infrastructure by improving the enviranment for patients and staff and capabilities;

+ digital transformation to enable improved patient pathways, propositions and efficiency; and

* business growth.

These pillars form the basis of a five-year plan which is monitored and update periodically. The strategy and plan
supports decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast funding requirements, debt
capacity and financing options that are required to deliver this. As described elsewhere in this report, the debt facilities

in place support the Company’s investment plans.

In developing the strategy, the Directors also consider external factors such as the political, economic, regulatory, and

competitive environment.

b) the interests of the company’'s employees
The Directors understand the importance of the Group’s employees to quality of care provided to patients, and so the
long-term success of the business.

There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly staff newsletters, and an
annual employee engagement programume. As a result of the most recent annual employes engagement survey, the
Group was awarded a 2-gtar outstanding employer rating by best companies™, The Group continues to use the results
of its annual employee engagement programme to invest further in improving the overall employee cxperience. This
includes investing in pay awards, increasing minimum basic hourly wage of contracted staff and by carrying out
regular safary benchmarking and pay review exercises to allow clinical and other staff to be paid at competitive levels

in the market.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1)) (continued)

¢) the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others;
The Board regularly reviews how the Group maintains positive relationships with all of its stakeholders including

patients, consultants, suppliers and others.

The Group’s paticnt satisfaction surveys are tun by an independent third party and show that 99 percent would
recommend our hospitals to their friends and family and 99 percent rated the overall quality of care as ‘very good” or
‘excellent’. The Group also undertakes consultant surveys to gauge the views of the surgeons and other medical
consultants practicing in our hospitals. The Board reviews the results of thesc surveys. Supplier relationships are
managed through the Group’s procurement team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

The Groups principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the Group and how
these risks interact with out stakeholders. The Directors actively seek information on the interaction with stakeholders
Lo ensure that they have sufficient information to reach appropriate conclusions about the risks face by the Group and

how these are reflected within the long-term plans.

d) the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment;

‘The Group has an ongoing capital investment programme to improve the hospital estate and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipment in {o the hospilals. The capital project process considers the envirommental impact and energy
efficiency of programmes of work to monitor and improve this over time.

The Company and its employees also support local and national charities through various fund raising, sponsorship
and matched giving initiatives, as well as raising donations to provide supplies and equipment to hospitals in Ukraine.

¢) the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
As a healthcare provider, the Directors believe that maintaining the reputation of the Group is critical for the future
success. Clinical qualily and governance is at the heart of the culture of the Group and receives significant focus at

Board level.

The Board is committed to high standards of business conduct and details of the governance structuges are set out in
the annual Quality Account, available on the Circle Health Group website.

f)  the need to act fairly as between members of the company
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Shareholders have worked effectively together to

agree the course for the long term future of the Group.

The Company and its board of divectors (‘the Board®) is committed to and has applied the principles of corporate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31
December 2022, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate

governance arrangements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable expectation that the Group
and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of at least {2 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, the going concern assessment period, for the following reasons.

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance sheet position of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact
of non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges. The
Directors have also considered the strong operating performance of the Group and the strong operating cash flows, which
are sufficicnt to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concern review and have also
applied various sensitivities. These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Company together
with the undertying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity
through the review period.

The Group’s senior facilities {set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene
Corporation, and financial covenants for the facilitics are measured at that level, Therefore, the directors of the Company
have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial performance. The covenant reporting shows
that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates that they
will be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Pure Health Holding LLC
(‘Pure Health’) (a major healthcare operator based in the Middle East, with a range of intemational healthcare investments)
will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centene
Corpuoration group, with the transaclion expected to close in the [irst quarter of 2024, No material change to the aperating
activities of the Group is expected in the period to closing of the transaction.

The directors have considered the future financing arrangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of
the transaction, including the provision of funds to repay existing borrowings and to provide warking facilities.
Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following completion of the transaction, this
will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The directors do not believe there will be any material change to the scope or nature of the Group's operatiens, following
completion of the transaction and within the going concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any
compaity, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future plans of the propesed new owners, for the
strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror and received
representations from them. Based on this, at the date of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no rcason
to believe that the entity will not continue as a going congern,

The wansaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals. In the event that these conditions
are not met and thercfore the transaction does not close (or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in
place which, as noted above, provide adequate liquidity for the Group.

Afier making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including
reviewing the facts and circumstances note above, and the Group’s forecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors have

concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources available to
them, to continue in operational cxistence and meet its liabilitics as they fall due for the foreseeable future, and at least for

[2 months firom the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

e e

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

29 Novemhes.... 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

This report forms part of the Directors' report. The Company and its board of directors (*the Board®) is commniitted to and
has applied the principles of corporate governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large
private companies for the vear ended 31 Decemtber 2022, Further explanation of how cach principle has been applied is set
out below.

Purpose and leadership

The Board and Company have regular communications with stakeholders and this is different case by case. The key
stakcholders and the specific forum for engagement are listed below:

+ Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints managemeut policies, provision of information to Private Healthcare
Information Network (PHIN) whose role it is to provide independent information to patients about private healthcare
providers

» Regulators - frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HIW and communication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network (JHPN)

+ Employees — Employee Voice Forum and employee engagement programme

« Consultants — Medical Advisory Committees within each hospital (MAC) chaired by a Hospital Clinical Chair

« NHS — local relationships with Trusts and ICBs, and central relationships with NHS England and other national NHS
bodies

« Insurers — relationships and regular engagement with the commercial team

« Suppliers - relationships and regular engagenient with the procurement team

The Directors have established a purpose statement for the Group “To provide the high quality, safe and compassionate
care our patients need and expect.” supported by the principles of:

¢ “we believe that patients come first”;

+ “we believe in our people™;

+ “we believe that ‘good enough® never is”; and

» “we believe in being open-minded and innovative”.

and also supported by the following values:

« “we value people who are selfless and compassionate™;

* “we value people who are collaborative and committed”;
« “we value people who are agile and brave™; and

* “we value people who are tenacious and creative”.

The Company is committed to building a culture which encourages staff to speal up safely. This is supported by our
“Freedom to Speak Up Raising Concerns (Whistieblowing)” policy and the role of the “Freedom to Speak Up Guardian”.
“Freedom to Speak Up™ leads were appointed in cach hospital and have the support of their local management teams, the
Group’s guardian and our Chief Medical Officer who has Executive responsibility for “Freedom to Speak Up”.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Purpose and leadership (continued)

The Company has various policies to mitigate the risk of conflicts of interest including the conflicts of interest and fraud,
anti-bribery and corruption policies supported by a imandatory training programme. In addition all healthcare professionals
have ethical requirements under their individual professional regisirations to conduct themselves in an ethical manner and
in the best interests of patients. Where the Group has commercial relationships with medical consultants these are
disclosed on the Circle Healthcare website.

There are examples of how the directors have considered their duties in relation to s172 b), in the manner in whicl it
engages with employees, as set out in the Strategic Report.

Board composition
The Circle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of directors who have healthcare experience and ather relevant

experience, Details of directors who have served over the period are included in the Directors’ Report.

Directors® responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
Committee structures. The Board is supported by the Integrated Governance Comumittee, which had primary responsibility
for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committec, which had primary
responsibility for the oversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together with a series of
operational and governance boards, committees and sub-committees, with established terms of reference.

Opportunity and risk

The Company continually seeks opportunity to crcate value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement in
financial result, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, cquipment and
technology. The risks that threaten these opportunities have been described earlier in this risk, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new appointment the board considers the market and remuneration packages that are commensurate to the role.
Short term incentive arrangements are based on the quality and performance of business. The market conditions arc
reviewed on a regular basis. The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2022 is available on the Group's website.

Stakeholder relationship and engagement

There are various mechanisms for information to be collected to inform the Board’s view of their impact on stakeholders.
Information about patients is obtained frcm various clinical indicators and patient reported outcome measures (PROMS).
The Group monitors its impact on the environment through review of the carbon emissions reporting (see further

information on this elsewhere in the Directors® Report), Other stakeholder engagement mechanisms are set out in the first

principle regarding 'Purpose and Leadership'.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the vear ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report on the affairs of the Compary, together with the audited financial statements and auditor’s report,
for the year ended 3( December 2022,

Netails f the Granp's principal activity, events affecting the Company since the financial period end, an indication of likely future
developments in the business, details of financial risk management, engagement with employees, suppliers and customers and a
statement on going concern have been included in the Strategic report and therefore form part of this Directors' report by reference.

Dividends
The directors do not propose a dividend for the year (2021: £nil).

Directors

The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Peter Sullivan

Jolm Hutton

Brent Layton

Beverley Tew {(appointed 23 February 2022)
Paolo Pieri

Henry Davies

Paul Manning

Directors' and officers’ insurance

The Company has pracured qualifying third party indemnity insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and all Group
companies. The Company has directors' and officers' insurance for the benefit of, amongst others, the directors of the Company,
which is in place at the date of this report,

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully consideted, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
concermned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Company continues and that appropriate adaptations are made. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other employees.

Employee consultation

The Company places considerable value on the involvement of its employees, and has continued to keep them informed on matters
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved through formal
and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails. Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide
range of matters affecting their current and fture interests and a staff survey is completed and reported on cach year.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 Deacember 2022 (cantinued)

Energy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below include all sources of Green House Gas (GHG) emissions and energy usage as required under the Large
and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended. This has been compiled in line
with the *Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamtined energy and carbon reporting guidance 20207

Circle emissions and cnergyv usage

For Cirele Health Group, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period 1 January to 31 December

2022 2021
Tonnes of Tonnes of

COLe COe
Gas consumption (Scope 1) 10,228 13,864
Emissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes (Scope 1) 951 923
Emissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the

11,758 14,237
purposes of transport (Scope 2)
Coal {industrial) {(scope 1) 969 877
Other petroleum gas (Calor) (scope 1) 14 14
Fuel oil (generator fuel) {scope 1) 320 189
Emissjons from business travel in employee-owned vehicles where 308 231
company pays for fuel indirectly (Scope 3)
Taotal 24,638 30,325
Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (KWh) 121,376,838 150,555,533
Revenue (£'m) 1,092 1,052
Tonnes of COye per revenue {per £'m) 3 29

During the financial year the Company continued to develop its systems and management approach to reduce its environmental

impact, The Health and Safety committee regularly reviews and evaluates opportunities to reduce our environmental impact and
related costs. The continued focus remains on the major utilities of electricity, gas, water and wastewater along with the material
commodities of both healthcare and general waste management and recycling.

The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management (including recycling)
and Utilities Management.

Waste management, including recycling clements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safety managers in
caoperation with local site Waste Officers; Utilities management elements are managed by the Regional Engineering Managers with
local support from environment officers and site engineers. This delegation of responsibilities malkes best use of the skillset within

the teams.

The Group has followed the 2021/2022 UK. Government environmentat reparting guidance and used the GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors fiom the UK Government’s GHG Cotwversion Factors for
Company Repotting 2020 to calculate these disclosures. The Group is currently putting in place new structures to support its
sustainability goals which will include detailed plans towards hecoming Net Zero in line with the current goverriment requirements.
Cuovortunities to exceed those targets will be evaluated as identified.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 {continued)

Disclosure af information to the auditor
Eacls ot the persons who 15 a director at the date of approval of tlus report confirms that:
» so far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information: of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
» the director has taken all the steps that she or he ought to have taken as a dircctor in order to make herself or himself aware of any

relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of sd18 of the Companies Act 2006.

Auditor
KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditar of the Company and appropriate arrangements are being made

for them to be deemed reappointed in the absence of an Annual General Meeting.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

Director: Heary Davies

29 November.

. 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' responsibilities statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
and applicable law and have elected to prcpare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicabie law (UK Genetally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit or loss for that peried. Tn preparing each of
the Group and parent Company finaneial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

« for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

» fot the parcnt Company financial statements, statc whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

» assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and

» use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficicnt to show and explain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary o enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them Lo safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (“the Company™) for the year ended 31 December
2022 which comprise the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consalidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2,

In our opinion;

+ the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affaivs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

« the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduyced Disclosure Framework, and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“IS As (UK)™) and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtajned is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or
the Company or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company’s financial pesition
nieans that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncettainties that could have cast significant
doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statements

(“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model and analysed
how those risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going
concern period,

Our conclusions based on this work:

« we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
appropriate;

» we have not identified, and concur with the directors® assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events ar
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast sighificant doubt on the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a

going concern for the going concern periad.

However, as we cannot predict all fiture events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that

the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect
Tdentifyving and responding to visks of material misstatement due to frand

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud, Our risk assessment procedures included:

« Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group's high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

* Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.

+ Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management, and directors.

+ Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or uncxpected relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the
audit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into aceount possible pressure to meet profit targets and our overall knowledge of
the control environment, we perform procedures to address the risk of managetment override of controls, in particular the risk
that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there is a
fraud risk related to revenue recognition because there are limited incentives, pressures or opportunities to perpetrate a material
fraud.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks,
We performed procedures including:

« Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting documentation,
These included those posted to unusual pairings with cash accounts.

+ Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting eslimates are indicative of a potential bias.

Hdentifving and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of taws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general comercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directors, legal team and other

management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors, legal team and other management the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We commmunicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.
Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and reguiations that dircctly affect the financial statements including financial reporting

legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related {inancial statement items.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
Identifying and responding to rvisks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations {continued)

Secondly, the Group is sulject o wiiy viher laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a
material effect an amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the impesition of fines or litigation or
the loss of the Group’s license to operate. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: health
and safety, data protection laws, employment and sacial security legislation, fraud, corruption and bribery laws, environmental
protection legislation, public service procurement laws, regulations of the Care Quality Commission and certain aspects of
company legislation recognising the nature of the Group’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed (o us or evident
from relevant carrespondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the qudit to detect frand or breaches of law or regulation
Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, cven though we have properly planned and performed cur audit in accordance with

auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards

would identify it,
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve collusion, fergery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentatians, or the averride of internal contrals. Our audit procedures are designed to detect’

material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all ]aws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The ditectors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors’ report. Our opinion on the {inancizl statements does not
cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the directors” report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

+ we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors’ report;

« in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and
28 P ¥

» in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2008, we are required (o report to you if, in our opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
+ we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respeets.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 17, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
stalements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or eiror; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as appficable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic altermative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance fs a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or ervor and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial

statements,
A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www, fre.org.uk/auditorsrespongibilities.

The purpose of oty audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audil work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have formed,

O s

David Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on hehalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford,
WD17 {DE

1 December 2023
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Notes 2022 2021

£000 £000

Revenue 4 1,091,724 1,051,642
Cost of sales (898,146) (845,520)
Gross profit 193,578 206,122
Administrative expenses (104,301) (111,860)
Operating profit before exceptional items 89,277 94,262
Exceptional administrative expenses 5 (39,175) (11,609}
Operating profit 6 50,102 82,653
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 25 - 3,267
Fihance income 8 336 54
Finance costs 9 (137,788) {137,376)
Lass hefore tax (87,350) {51,402)
Income tax credit/(charge) 10 6,985 (1,274)
Loss for the year (80,365) {52,676)

Loss attributable to:

Owners of the parent (81,400) (53,594)
Non-controlling interests 1,035 918
(80,365) (52,676)

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements,
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
yeat ended 31 December 2622 (continued)
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Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain on scheme obligations

Actuarial loss on scheme assets

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes

Net effect in reserves arising from moverttenits on future scherme coimmitment

Total items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net
of tax)

Ttems that will subscquently be reclassified to profit or loss:
Tax on equity-settled share-based payments

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive expense for the year

The above amounts were derived from continuing operations.

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£2000 £000
(80,365) (52,676)
38,257 4,028
(38,669) (3,862)
1,353 8,373

941 8,539
941) (8,539)
145 -
145 -
(80,220) (52,676)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive income,
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and bank balances

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payablcs
Provisions

Lease liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

Loans and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities
Net (liabilities)/assets

Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total equity

Notes

11
12
13
14

16
18

22
23
17

23
19
21
17

24
24
24

2022 2021
£000 £2000
38,617 46,413
147,478 147,478
1,714,355 1,734,676
4,299 5,142
1,904,749 1,933,709
17,746 17,276
93,173 75,712
35,013 102,915
145,932 195,903
2,050,682 2,129,612
(178,756) (169,709)
(14,679) (17,086)
(14,159) (8,065)
(207,594) (194,860)
. (118)
(161,034) (214,038)
(4,412) (11,133)
(1,703,298) (1,666,021)
(1,868,744) (1,891,310
(2,076,338) __ (2,086,170)
(25,656) 43,4472
57 21
201,440 201,476
11,281 .
(241,423) (160,487)
(28,645) 41,010
2,989 2,432
(25,656) 43,442
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the Board of Directors and autharised
for issue on .2 4. NQNEINDELL .. 2023, They were signed on its behalf by:

S/ .

Name: Henry Davies
Director

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial stalements,

The company’s registered number is 10543098,
The companys registered address is Ist Floar, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England,
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Civele Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
year ended 31 December 2022

Non-
Share Share Accuimulated Olher cantrolling
capital premium Iosses reserves Totz) folerest ‘Total equlty
£'000 £'aa0 £000 L'o00 000 £'050 £000
Talanee a1 41 3) December 1020 21 201476 (107,166} - 94,301 1,585 95,976
Amousts vasied urder TFRS 2 fnole 24) B - 213 - 1l - 213
Theidends - - - - - {71} i
QLosspprotit and toaii comprehensive fespeise)lTncame for die year - - (31,594 - 153,594 31q (SI8T6}
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 {160,487y - 41,010 2,433 43,442
Diher movements {nata 24) 35 (36) - - . -
Equity-settied share based payment {note 24) - B - LL281 14,281 . 11,281
Acquisition of o <entrolling iuterests (usie 15) - - 315 - g {455) 40
Divisenuds - - - . - (9 i)
(Loss)/profit and 1atal comprehensive (axpense)income for the year . . (81,255) . 181,155) 1,038 (60,170
Dalence rs at 3] Decomber 2022 57 35,440 @hamy T uam [ oBess)  2ees  _ (isesa)

The notes o pages 2K (o 4 fonn part of ticse linancral slatemengs,
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Cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flow from opcrating activitics (notc 26)
Interest received

Interest paid
Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from associates and joint ventures
Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 25)

Net cash outflows from investing activities
Repayment of lease liabilties
Repayments of loans and borrowings

Loan transaction costs paid
Consideration paid far acquiring minority interest holding (see note 15)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents a¢ the end of the year

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash at bank and in hand

Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 28 1o 56 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021
£2000 £'000
199,080 184,393
336 54
(137,406) (129,727)
(179) (3,728)
61,831 50,992
2,534 2,450
(857) (1,022)
(62,997) (57,153)
1,346 677

- 788
(59,974) (54,260)
(10,599) (13,496)
(58,000) -
(1,020 -
(140) -
(69,759) (13,496)
(67,902) (16,764)
102,915 119,679
35013 102915
35,013 102,915
35,013 102,915
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

1.  General infarmation

Circle Health Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’ or 'Group') is a private company limited by shares that is incorporated, registered and domiciled in the United
Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006, The registered office is 1st Floor 30 Cannon Sireet, London, ECAM 6XH. The rature of the Group and Company's
aperations and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic Report on pages 2 to {1, The financial statements are for the year cnded 31 December 2022,

1. Accounting paliciee

Basis of preparation
The Grouy financial statements consolidate thase of the pazemt company and its subsidiaries. The parent company financial statéments present information about

the Company as a separate entity and not about jts Group.

The consalidated financial statemenis have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted international accounting standards ("UK adopted [FRS") and the
Companies Act 2006,

The consolidated and company financial statements ave been prepared under the historical cost convention, as explained in the eccounting policies below,
Historical cost iz generally based on the fajr value of the consideration given in exchange for the goods and services.

Fair valuc is the price that would be reccived lo sell an asset or paid la transfer a liability in an orderiy transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using anather valation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or & liability, the Group takes into account the characleristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take thosc characlesistics into account when
pricing the assct or liability at the mecasurgment date, Fair value for measurement purposes in these financial statements is determzined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scape of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 16, and measurements (hat have some
similarities to fair vafue but are not fair vilye, such as net realisable value in [AS 2 or value in use in IAS 36,

The preseatational and functional currency of the Group and the Company is pounds (GBP). All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

The Conipany has elected 1o prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101, Reduced Disclosure Framewark'
(FRS 101). The Company financial slatements have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicable lo companies using FRS 101,

The Cerapany financial statements are presented on pages 57 to 61.

The following exemptions fiom the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of the Company financial statenients:

+ The requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments;

+ The requirement in paragraph 38 of IAS [ Presentation of Financial Statements to pressnt comparative information in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of [AS 1;

» The requirements of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 404, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 to 136 of IAS 1;

+ The requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

*» The requirements of paragraphs 30 and 3§ of IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounling Estimates and Etrors;

+ The requirements of paragraphs 17 and 1 8A of TAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and

+ The requircmnents in JAS 24 to disclose related party transaclions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which is
a party to the ransaction is wholly owned by such 2 member.

The principal accounting policies for the Group and Company are set out below:

New and antended IFRS Standards that are effective for the cerrent year

The following amendments were effective during the financial vear. The Group has performed an assessmient and concinded that ng impact will be seen asa
result of these changes:

Arnendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinatians—Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to 1AS 16— Property, flant and Equipment—Praceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to LAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets—Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to TFRS | First-time Adoption of International Finaneial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Tnstruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41

Agriculture
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Circle Health Holdings Limited
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Accounting policies (continued)
New and revised IFRS Standards jn issuc but not vet effective

Al the date of authorisation of these financial statcments, the Ggoup lias not applied the following sew and revised IFRS Standards that have been jssucd but are
nol yer effective;

: ——
IFRS 17 (inclading the June 2020 Amendments to Insurance Comracts

IFRS | 7)

Amendments to JFRS 10 and iAS 28 Sale or Conivibution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venlire
Amendments 1o TAS ] Classification of Liabilities as Crirrent or Non-cilrrent

2,:1:“::::;[5 10 TAS 1 and IFRS Practice Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendiments io 1AS 8 Definition of Accowniting Estimates

Amendments o LAS 12 Deferred Tax related 1o Assets and Linbilities arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments to 1AS | Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale aynd Leaseback

Amendments to IFRS 17 Initial upplication of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 Comparative Information

The directors do act expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods,
excepl as noled below:

Ainendments to IAS I Preseutation of Financial Statesrents—Classification of Liabilities as Curvent or Non~current

The amendments to TAS 1 affect only the presentation of Liabilitics as current or non-current in the slatement of financial position and net the amount or timing of
recognition of any nssct, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on riglhts that are in exisience at the end of the reporting period,
specify that classification is unafiected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its 1ight to defer settlement ot a Liability, explain that rights are in
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of “settlement’ to make clear that settilement refers to the
transfer to the countesparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services,

The amendments are applicd retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, with early application permitted.

Amendments to JAS 1 Presentation of Financial Staternents und 1FRS Practice Statement 2 Afaking Materiality Judgemenis—Diselosure of Accounting
Policies

The amendments change the requirements in [AS | with regard to disclosure of accounting policies. The amendment replaces all instances of the tecm
‘significant accounling policies’ with *material accovnting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other
inforroation included in an entity’s financial statements, it can regsonably be expected 1o influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statemenis make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting pategraphs in IAS | are also antended ta ¢larify that accounting policy information that relates to imniaterial transactions, other events or
conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting palicy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other evenis
ar copditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is
itself material

The Board has also developed guidance and examples to explain and demonstrate the application of the “four-step materiality process’ described in IFRS Practice

Staternent 2.
The amendments to IAS | are effective for annual periads beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with earlier application permitted and are applied prospectively,
The amendments to IFRS Praciice Statemeni 2 do not contain an effective date or transition requirements.

Amendments to TAS 8 Accownting Policies Changes in Accownting Estimates and Errors—Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendmeats replaces the definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates. Under the new definition, accounting
estimates are “monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted, However, the IASB retained the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with

the fellowing clarifications:
+ a change in accounting estimare that results from new information or new developments is not the correction of an error; and
+ the effects of a change in an input or a measurement rechnique used to develop an accounting estithate are changes in accounting cstimates if they do net result

from the correction of priov period errars.

The LASR added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing JAS 8, which accompanies the Standard. The JASB has deleted one example
{Example 3) ag it could cause confusion in light of the amendments.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after | Fanuary 2023 to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimales
that oceur on or after the beginning of that peried, with earlier application permitied.
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2.

Aceounting policies (continued)

Amendments to TAS 12 Jucame Taxes—Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilides arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments introduce a further exception from the initial recognition exemption, Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initial recognition
exemption for transnctions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences.

Nepending on the applicable tax l2w, equal taxable and dedwctible temporary differences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting nar taxable profit. For example, this may arise upon zecognition of a lease Hability and the
corresponding right-of-use asset applying IFRS 16 at the cominencement date of a lease.

Following the amendmeats 1o LAS 12, an entity is required to recognise the relaicd deferred tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asscl
being subject Lo the recoverability criteria in IAS 12.

The LASB also added an illustrative example to IAS 12 that explains bow the amendments are applied.

The antendmenis appiy to transactions that oceur on or after the beginning of the earliest comparalive period presented. In addition, at the heginning of the
earliest comparalive period an entity recognises:
« a deferced tax asset (to the exteat that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liahfity for 2ll deductibie and taxable temporary differences associated with:

- right-of-use assets and lease liabilities

- decommissioning, restoration and similar Liabilities and the corresponding amounts recognised as part of the cost of the refaied asser;
» the cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments as an adjustnent 1 the apening balance of retained earnings (or other component of equity, s

appropriate) at that date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on ar after 1 Jatuary 2023, with earlier application pemitted,

Going concern

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable ¢xpectation that the Group and Compary bas adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of these financial statemenis, the going concern assessment
period, for the following reasons,

The Dircetors have considered the consolidated balance sheet position of the Group, which reflects the cunulative impact of non-cash accounting charges
relating to impairments as well as the itzpact of IFRS 16 leasc accounting charges. The Directors have also considered the strong operating performance of the
Group and the strong operating cash flows, which are sufficient to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.

Management of the Group hias prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going ¢oncer review and have also applied various sensitivitics. These
forecasts and sensilivities have been reviewed by thie directors of the Company together with the underlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has
sufficient cash and facilities lo provide liquidity through the review period.

The Group’s senior facilities {set out int note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene Corparation, and financial covenants for
the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company have revicwed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial
performance, The eovenant repotting shows thal the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates
that they will be complied with throughout the foreeast peried with appropriate headroonm.

On 28 August 2023, it was anncunced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Pure Health Holding LLC ("Pure Health’) (a major heakheare
operatar based in the Middle East, with a range of intemational heattheare investments) will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Cirele Heakh Holdings Limited
and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centene Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. No material change to the
aperating activities of the Group is expected in the period to closing of the transaction,

The divectors have considered the futare financing amrangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of the tion, including the provision
of funds o repay existing barrowings and to provide working facilities. Management has prepared liguidity forecasts on that basis which show that. fotlowing
completion of the transactien, this will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom.

The ditectors do not believe there will be any materiat change to the scope or nature of the Group's operations, following completion of the transaction and within
the geing concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future
plans of the proposed new owners, for the strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the propesed acquiror and received
representations from them, Based on this, at the date of approval of these fmancial statements, the directars have no reason fo believe that the entity will not
continve as a going concen.

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatery approvals, In the event that these conditions are not met and therefore the
transaction does not close (or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in place which, as noted above, pravide adequate liquidity for the

Group.

Afler making enguirics and based on the evidence available at the date of appraval of these financial statements, inclading reviewing the facts and circumstances
note ehove, and the Group's farecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors have concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the
Company have adequate resources available to them, to continug in operational existcoce and meet jts liabilities as they fall due for the faresecable future, and at
least for 12 months from the date of these financial staternents.

Accordingly, they continue to adapt the going concem basis in preparing the financial statements.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity controlled, directly or indirectly. Control is regarded as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the subsidiary se as to
benefit from its activities, The financial results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained until the date that controf ceases. All ntra Group
transactions are climinated as part of the consolidation pracess.

Non-controlling interests ("NCI™) are measured initially at their proporiionate share of the acquiree’s ideutifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group's interest in a subsidiary that do not result in & loss of control ace accounted for as equity transactions.

When control is last over a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities and any refated NCI end other components of equity of that subsidiary.
Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when coatrol is lost.

Business combinations

Under the requirements of IFRS 3 {revised), all business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition metlod, The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, Ldentifiable asscts
acquired, liabilities and contingent |jabilities assumed in 8 business conybination are measured at their fair valucs at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs
are expenscd as incurred. An intangible asset, such as a brand, §s recognised if it meets the definition of an intangible asset under 1AS 38 ‘Intangibte assets’, The
excesg of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill,

Goodwill and other intanpible assets

Intangible assets with finite usefisl lives that are acquired separately are carried al cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulased impairment Josses. The
estimated usefu! life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reperting periad, will the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective bagis, Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost Jess accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwil! arising on acquisitions is capitalised, hield on the balance sheet indefinitely and subject to @ impairment review, bath annually and when there is an
indication that the cairying value may not be recoversble.

Acquired contracts are separately identified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and ave initially stated at fair value as at the acquisition
date. The fair value atiributable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average
cost of capilal appropriate to that intangible assel. The assets are amortised on a straight fine basis over their estimaled useful Jives which range from 91015

years,

Acquired computer software {defined 25 software thal is nol considered an integral part of the hardware equipment) is capitalised on the basis of the costg
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific assel {¢stimaled wseful life not exceeding three years),

Brands are separately identified from goodwill acquired as part of a business combination and are initially stated at fair value as at the acquisition date. The fair
value attribulable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted nverage cost of capital
appropriate to that intangible asset. The assets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives which range from 5 to 15 years.

Revenue

The Group generates revenue from the provision of medical services to privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at facilities located acrass the UK.
At a hospital level revenue is mergured by patient type, being inpatient, outpatient and day case, The key driver for invoicing and accounting recognition is the
cuslomer to whom the service is being provided. Management is required Lo take all relevant faclors and circumstagces into account when determining the
revenue recognition methods that appropriately depict the transfer of contral of gaads or services to the cnstomer for each performance abligation. This requires
management to make certaia judgements, including; the determination of the perfonance obligations in the contract; the estimate of any variable consideration
in determining the contract price; the allocation of the price to the performance obligations inkerent in the conlrack; and an appropriate method of recognising

revenue.

In determining the appropeiate method of recogrising revenue, inanagement are required to make judgements as to whether performance obligations are satisfied
over a period of time or at a point in time. For performance obligations that are satisfied over a period of time, judgements ave made as to whether the output
method or the input method is inore appropriate o measure progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation. If performance obligations are
not satisfied over time, the Group recognises revenue at a point in time,

Revenue, which is measured as the fir vatue of cansideration received for the activity performed, represents the total amounts derived primarily from the
provision of healthcare services in the UK, aficr deducting value added tax (where services provided are not exempt).

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance abligations and reports these amounts as other
liabitilics in its tonsolidated statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies & performance obligation before it reccives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a contractasset or a receivable in its consolidated statement of financial position, depending on whether semething other than the
passage of ime is required before the consideration is due.

Manzgement has undertaken a detajled assessment of all reveaue streams using the five-step approach specified by [FRS 1 5:
« Identify the coatract(s) with the custatiter

+ [dentify the performance obligaticns in the comtract

« Determine the transaction price

« Allocate the transaction price to the performance abligations in the contract

« Recognisc revehue when (or as} a performance obligation is satisfied
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2. Accounting policles (contloned)
Revenue (continued)
Revenue can be broken down into the following main categories:
NHS Hospital Provision (any qualified provider and direct contracting)

Any provider who Is able to provide a specific service that meets the required minimum standards can be Iisted as a possible provider to deliver heaitheare on
behalf of the NHS at national tariff. Patients choose their preferred provider under the national eraferral system (formerly the Choose and Book system).

Following the paticnts’ treatment and subsequent discharge froms hospital, the Group will invoice the relevant Intergrated Care Board ("ICB") directly at tariff for
the medicaf procedure perfarmed and recognise the applicable revenuc, The pecformance of the tecatment is 1he sole pecformance obligation {representing that
this is when the service is transferred), and sa the whale tariff price is allocated to that performance obligaticn. No provider is guaranteed any volume or
exclusivity. Tn addition to any qualified provider revenue, some revenue is eamed from contracts withy the NHS Trusts, with performance of treatments being the

sale performance obligation,

The Group also earned reveaue from central NHS bodies and focal health schemes in England, Scotfland and Wales under cantracts put in place io allow the
independent sector to support the NHS during the Covid-19 pandemic.

NHS Conlracts with guaranteed payments

Integrated Care contracts have a term, usually, of five years. The caiiract invalves a *prime provider' {Circle) who takes responsibifity foc coordinating and
managing the delivery of services across a local heallh system. Circle's main contracting parties are the local commissioner (ICB) and local ¢are providers, The
contract revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its perfonmance and is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received for activity performed (in accordance with IFRS 13).

The annual revenue celates to the year beginaing 1 Apeil and ends an 31 Marcl: in the foliowing year. The revenue is dotecntined at the beginning of the year, in
respeet of the contract and any demograpitic growth in the focal health system. The annual revenue is spread monthly across the year in @ manner that reficcts the
proportien of total annual cost anticipated to be borne in that month, This is to reflect the contracts’ main performance obligation of coardinating and managing
the delivery of services to patients, with the cost of these services incurred reflecting the completion of the performance obligation.

Private and self-pay

Revenue is recognised based on procedures performed eithier at contractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the specific
procedure undertnken. The completion of the medical procedure is the sole performance obligation, and so the whole price is allocated to that performarnce
obligation. In the case of Private Medical Insurer revenue, the insurance conipanies pay the consullants dicectly and Circle recognises revenue for use of the
hospital, consumables and other clinical services which are recognised as provided.

Far self-pay patients, Circle recognises revenue when the performance cbligation has been satisfied,

In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company recognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for the Company this is when the scrviges
have been provided to the Group operating companies. Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for
its performance and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received for activity performed.

Other revenue streams
The Group has other revenue streams including administrative fees charged to consultants, selling medical supplies to lhird parties and room: rental, Under IFRS
15, revenue is only recognised when performance obligations are salisfied, wheiker that is the provision of administrative services or transfer of goods as part of

inventory sales.

Exceptional administrative expenses
The Group presents eertain material exceptional items and fair value adjustmenis separately in the income statermnent, if they are material hecause of their size or
their nature (such as acquistion related costs), The Directors consider that the separate reporting provides a clearcr understanding of the Group's underlying

performance.
Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised on an effective interest rate basis in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are directly attributable to the
acquisition or production of a qualitying asset which takes a substantial period of time to get ready for intended use, such as the constriction of a hospital. In
such cases, berrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset from the ficst date on which expenditure is ineurred for the asset, provided the asset is
detenmined to be economically vinble. Capitalisation ceasés when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are comiplete.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Investments

Investments in subsidiaries ave valued at cost less provision far impairment. The carrying value of fixed asset investients is reviewed for impairnient when
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable,

Inveslinoats iy sales aud juint veul o necounted (b1 using e equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.

The carrying amount of the investment in associates and joint ventures is increased ar decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture, adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and ils associates and joint veatures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those
entitics. Where unrealised losses are climinated, the underlying asset is akso tested for impairment,

Praperty, plant and cquipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost comprises all amounts directly
attributable to making asseis capable of operating as intended, including development costs and borrowing costs where relevant.

Depreciation is provided on al] categories of property, plant and equipment with the exception of freehold land and assets under construction (see below).
Depreciation is based on cost less estimated residual value and is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assct as foflows:

- Leasehoid improventents ~ shotter of kease life or expected useful life (5-50 years)

- Clinical equipment —3 (o L5 years

- Fumniture, fittings and office equipment, {(including commissioning costs) - 3 to 10 years

Right-of-use assets are depreciated aver the shorter period of the lease term and the useful Life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use agset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a puzchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over

the useful life of the underlying asset.

Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. The expecied useful lives of the assets to the business are reassessed
periodically i the light of ¢xperience. The canvying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes of
circumstances indicate the ¢arrying value may not be recaverable. An jtem of property, plant and equipment is derccognised upon disposal or when no future
economie benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss avsing on the disposal or retirement of an assel is determined zs lhe
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Assets under ¢construction

Development costs which are directly attributable to the development of property are capitalised as part of the cost of the property. The comencenent of
capitalisation begins when development costs for the property are being incurred and activities that are nccessary to prepare the asset ready for use ace in
progress, Capitalisation ¢eases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use ar¢ complete,

Commissioning costs comprise staff, property, consultancy and operational costs directly related to the commissioning of new build hospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined o be economicaily viable, up to the point that the commissioning is complete and the hospitat is fully open for
business, subsequent to which further such expenditure is charged to the mcome statemaent. Once commissioned, the asset is reclassified from “Asscls under
coustruction’ to the relevant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated on a straight line basis in accordance with the estimated usefut lives os
outlined in the previous property, plant and equipment significant accounting policy.

Impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets aud property plant and equipment

For impairment testing pwrposes, assets are grouped 2l the Jowes! levels for which there ase largerly independent cash inflows (cagh-generating upits). As a result,
some assels are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill arising from 2 business combination is allocated to
cash-gencrating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and represent the lowest level within
tlte Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill or inmangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use have been allocated are tested for
impairoient at least annually. All cthet individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impainment \whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate

the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Recoverable amount is the higher af fair value less costs (o sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
prescnt valu¢ using a pre-tax discount rate that refiects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
eslimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unie) is estimated {o be less than its carrying amount, the carying amount of the asset (or cash-
generaling unis) is reduced to itg recoverable amount. An imypairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Tmpairment lesses for cash-generating units reduce the first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit. Any remaining impainient
loss is charged pro rata te the other assets in the cash-generating unit.

With the exception of goadwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an jmpairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist, Where
an impaimient loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asser (or cash-generating unit) is increased to e revised estimate of its recoverable
amounl, bul so that the in¢reased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impaizment loss been
recognised for the assel (or cagh-generating mnit) in prior years, A reversal of en impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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1. Accounting policies (contineed)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inccption of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease
liahility with 1espect to all lease arrangements in wlhicl it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease tekm of 12 months or less) and
leases of low valuc assets (such as tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones). Far these leases, the Group recognises the
leases ryinends as uicopeealing expense on o siralghialing basis aver the term of the lease unfess another systematic basis 1s more represeulative of the ime
pattern in which econontic benefils from (he leascd assets are consumed.,

The lease liabitity is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit ip the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borcowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease Liability comprise:

» Fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

* Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate al the commencement date;
« The amaunt expecied to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;

* The exercise price of purchase opticns, if the lessee is reasonably certain Lo exercise the options; and

» Payments of penalties for terminating the keasce, ifthe lease term reflects the exercise of an aption to temiitate the lease,

The lease liability is prescnted as a scparale line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease Liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect inlerest on the lease liability (using the effectivé interesi method) and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made,

Remeasurement of leases
The Company remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-af-use essel) whenever:

+ The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or cliange in circumistances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of 4 purcliase option, in
which case Ihe lease liability is measured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discaunt rate, The revised discount rate is the interest ratc
implicit in the leasc for the remalnder of tease term or if that cannot be determined then the incremental bortowing rate at date of reassessment.

« The Jease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
trability is remieasured by discounting the revised jease payntents using an unchanged discoudt rate (unfess the lease payments change fs due to a charge ju a
floating interest cate, in which case 4 revised discount rate is used). When lease paymenis ave revised due to changes in an index or rate used 1o determine the
payments the Group shall remeasure the leage Liability only when therc is a change in the cash flows,

+ A lease contract is modified and the [ease modification is not a¢eounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease
tevm of the madified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
maodification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease paymients made at or before the commencement day, less any
lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulateq depreciation and impairment fosses,

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for casts to dismantle and remove a leased assel, restore the site on wihich it is loczted or restore the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured uader 1AS 37. To ths extent that the costs relate to a right-
of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asscl or the cost of the right-of-use asset refiects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, the refated right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group applics [TAS 36 to determing whether a riglt-of-use asset is impaired and acconns for any identified impairment loss in ling with the Tmpairment of
goodwill, other intangible assets and property plant and equipment’,

Enventories

Inventories, primatify medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable vatue. Cost comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and is
determined on a first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable velue means cstimated selling price, less all costs incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Obsalete

and slow moving stock is provided for in the income statement.
Where title never transfers to the Group, consignment stock is held off balance sheet.

Financial instruments

Recognilion and derecognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument,

Financinl assets arc derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expive, or when the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewgrds are wansferred. A financial liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled, or expites.
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Accoanting palicles {continned)

Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

The Group’s financial assels include trade and other receivables,

Except for those trade Teceivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all
financial assets are initiatly measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (where applicable).

Financial assets, olier than those designaled and effective s hiedging instrupents, are classified inta cne of the following categories:
samartised cost

«fair valse through profit or Joss (FVTPL), or

=fair value through other comprehiensive income (FVOCI).

I the petiods presented the Group docs not have any financial asscts entegorised as FVTPL or FVOCI.

The classification is determined by hoth:

«the entity's business model for managing the financial asset, and
«the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All revenue and expenses relating to financial assets ihat are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial
items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within administrative expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets at amontised cost
Financinl assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated as FVTPL):

= they are held within a business mode! whose objective is 1o hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flaws, and
« the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise (o cash flowa that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measired at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Piscounting is amitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Lmipzirment of financial assets

The Group and Company applies the IFRS 0 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for alt trade
receivables and contract assets. Fach entity uses a formula 1o calculate the expected credit loss. Trade receivables have been grouped based on shared
characteristics (e.g., payer type). Different credit risk ratings have been applied to each grouping, including to reflect that credit zisk increases as the aging of debt
increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type 1o reflect the varying credit risk. This percentage aliowance reflects the Likelihood of defauit,
and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default occurs.

Classification and measurement of financial fiabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include barrawings and trade and other payables.

Financial liabilities ave initially measured at fair value, and, where npplicabile, adjusted for transaction cosls,
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair vake that arc reporied in profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance
income

Borrowings are classificd as current liabiltites ynbess the Group has an unconditienal right to defer seftlenient of the linbility for at least 12 months after the
reporting period.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash it hand, depaosits held at call with banks, overnight deposits other short-term highly liquid invesiments with original
maturities of three months or less.

R R o

T

TR,

AT T R X T e




Circle Health Holdings Limited

Yage 36

Notes to the financial statements
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2.

Accounting policles {continued)

Retivement beacefit plans

Paymionts to defined contribution retirement benefit sehemes arg charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are dealt with as payinents to defined contribution schemes where the Company's obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in 2
defined contributios retirement benefit scheme,

The Group sponsars a funded defined benetit pension plan for qualifying UK employees, General Healtheare Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance Plan.
The Plan is administered by GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited, an independent trustee. The Trustes is required by law to act in the intercst of all relevant
beneficiarics and is responsible for the investment policy for the assets and the day-to-day administration of the benefits,

The Group's defined benefit plan closed to future sccruals and members with cffect from 3 [ August 2008. Under the Plan, employecs are entitled to annual
pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year of service, The level of benefits accrued by members is based on the lengh of their Pensionable Service and their
Peusionable Salaries at the earlier of the date on which they left the Plan or the date at which the Plan closed to the future accrual of berefits,

A full actuarial valuation was carried out o3 at 30 Seplember 2021. The present valee of the defined benefit obligation and the rejated current service cost were
measured using the projected unit eredit method. The prajected unit credit method is an accrued benefits valuation method in which the scheme liabilities make

allowance for prajected carnings.
During 2019 the Trustees used the scheme assets to procure a bulk annuity to caver the cwrrent and future pension liabilities buy in.

The Group's net obligation in vespect of defined bencfit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have eamed in the current
and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The caloulation of yenr end defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary by using the projected unit credit method in the September
actuarial valuation, rolled forwarded to the year-end date with allowance made for changes in market conditions. When the calculation results in the fair value of
the plan assets heing greater than the present vaiue of the defined benefit obligation, a surplus is crealed. The recognised asset is linited to the present value of
ccanomic benefits available in the farm of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future conlributions to the plan. To calculate the present value of
economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding requirements. The Group does not expect to derive economic benefit from such
surpluses and as a result gains from a surplus position are not recagnised in other comprehensive income,

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets {excluding interest) and the effect of the
asset ceiling (if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in OCL The Group determines the ner interest expense {ineome) on the net defined benefit
liability (asset} for the period by applying the discount rate used to measuce the defined benefit abligation at the beginning of the annual period ta the then net
defincd benefit liability {asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and benefit
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to the defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Tax expense comprises current and defetred tax. The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year, as adjusted for items which ave taxabla or
deductible in other accouniing periods and items not taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enncted

by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the Lability method in respect of ternporary differences arising from differences between the tax bases of assets and Liabilities,
and their canying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. [n principle, defetred tax [iabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differcnces can be
utiliscd. Such asscis and liabilities &re not recognised if the temporary difference is due to the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition of an
asset or labifity in a transaction (other than a business combination) which at the time of the transaction does nat aftect either taxable or accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differcnces arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reverszl of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable furure.

Deferred tax assels and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and labilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation autherity on either the taxable enlity or different taxable entities where

there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.

Daeferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled using rates enacted, or
substantively enacted, at the end of lhic reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive incame or dircctly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or dirgetly

in equity, respectively.

The carrying amount of deferred 1ax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is ne lenger prabzble that sufficienl taxable
profits wilt be available to allow afl or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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Accounting policies (continued)
Provisions Tor other liabilities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group or Company bas a present obligalion in respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resourees will be
required to setle the obligation and it can be reliably estimated. Provisions are discaunted where the time value of money is considered to be material, using an
appropriate rate that reflects current market assessinents of the time value of money and the risks specific to the abligation. The unwinding of the discount is
recngniged nr a financo oot

Dhvidends

Diividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's and the Company®s financial statements in the period it whicls the
dividends are approved by the Company's shareliolders.

Share capktal

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Procceds received, net of any directly attributable transaclion costs, arc credited to share capital {(nominal value) and
share premium (for any proceeds in excess of nominal valuc).

Shared based payments

The long-terra stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited allows for awards to be made in the form of options,
restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights and any other stock-based awards, The Circle grants under this plan solely relate to RSUs and
PSUs over 50,001 par valu¢ common stock in Ceatene Inc. and are accounted for as equity-settled share-based seheme.

The grant date fair value of share-based payments awards granied to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is estimated on the date of grant as
the share price at that date. The amount recognised as an expesse is adjusted to reflect the actual number ot awards for which the related service and non-market
vesting conditiens are expected to he mel, such that the amoun! nitimately recognised as an expense is hased on the number of awards that do meet the related
service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the
shara-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Critical judgements and accounting estimates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting palicics, the Dircctors make judgoments and estinates concerning the fiture, The resulting accounting
estimates will, by definition, seldom equat the related actual resulis, The judgements and estimates that have the most significant effect on the amaounts
recognised in the consalidated financial statements, and could hove a material impact on the financial statements in the following year, inclsde:

Critieal judgements in applylng the Group’s accounting policies

j. Tax

The recognition of deferred tax assets is dependent upon L jud of the level of future taxable profits that will be available against which
deductible temporary differences can be tilised. Such a judgement is based on cash flow forecasts that have been generated, along with their expectations of
firture market performance. In the event that actua! taxable profits are different, suck differences may impact the carrying value of such deferred tax assets in
firture years. Baged on the estimates used in determining the deferred tax asset position there remains £102.12 million unrecognised.

Critical ting esti es and {o1s

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment ta the carrying amounts of
pssets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

i, L[mpairment of assets

Praperty, plant and equipment, Right of Use assets, and other intangible assets are considered for impairiment if there is any reason to believe that impairment
may e necessary, based on the judgement of management. All hospital fixed assets are allocaled into cash-generating units (CGUs), being each individual
hospital operation, and tested for impairment, if any indicaters of impairment exist.

At 31 Decembor 2022, Property, plaat and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were considered for impairment. The Group assessed whether
indicators of impairment existed for each CGU and where indicators existed the Group assessed the recaverable vahies of cach CGU using forceasts of the
profitability and the anti¢ipated maintenance capital expenditure for each hospiial, Refer to note 13 for sensitivities performed.
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4, Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations
Provision of healtheare services by custoner
Private insured patients
MHS patients
Self-pay patients
Other palicnts
Other revenue

Revenue split by patient type:

Inpatient
Outpatient
Day case
Other revenue

5, Lxceptional administrative expeises

Impairment losses
Acquisition 2nd integration costs
Other exceptional items

2022 2021

£000 £°600

461,198 415,483

315,957 364,625

257,734 228,740

17,064 8.4i6

29,771 34,377

1,094,724 1,051 642

2022 2021

£000 £4900

409,823 327,966

312,616 277,092

301,896 249,439

67,389 197,145

1,091,724 1,051,642

Income statement Tax impaet  Ineome statement Tax impact
2022 2022 2021 2021
£000 £1000 £1000 £:000
37,901 - 7,391 -
594 @) 4,101 -
680 an 17 (22)
39,175 (39) 11,609 (22)

Int both the curcent and prior year, the exceptional costs recogaised were in relation to impairment charges following the annual impairment review of the asgets
catried out at the year ead. See notes 11 and 13. Acqusition and integration costs relate io the intergration of BMI Healtheare foliowing the acquistion by the
Group. Expenses continue to be incurred as a result of the ongoing CMA requirements refating to the Birmingham market. Other exceptional items include site

closure costs and debt refinancing costs.

Cash flow bpact of exceptionals

The cash flow impact far exceplional acguisition costs was an outflow of £547,000 (2021: £2,883,000). The cash flow impact of other exceptional items was an

outflow of £680,000 (2021: £117,000).
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Operating profit for the year

Operating profil is stated afier charging/{crediting):

Amartisation of intangible assets (note 11)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13)
Cost of stock recognised as expense

Auditus 1ewuuetalion (sce below)

Movement in provision for bad debts (note 18)
Operaling lease charges

Exceplional operating items (note 5)

Remuneration payable to the company's auditar :

Fees payable to Company's anditor for the purent Company and
consolidated financial stalements

Fees payable to the Company's auditer for other services

— The audit of Company's subsidiaries
— Advisary services

Staff costs

The average monthly number of employces during the year (including executive directors) was:

Management and administrative
Clinical and hospital support

Their aggregate remuneratian comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defined contribution pension costs (sce note 27)

ey management personnel compensation

Short-term employee benefits
Post-emplayment benefils

Long-term benefits

Terminalion benefits

Parent company long temma stock plan charges

2012 2021
£'000 £°000
8,672 11,805

96,520 93,651
201,846 191,975
615 733
905 (633)
487 4§
39,175 14,609

2022 202%

£'000 £:000
193 195

479 535

3 3

675 733
2022 2011
Number Number

554 599
8,306 7,875
8,860 8,474

2022 2021
£'000 £:000

361,801 327,655
31,134 26,179
10,869 10,037

403,804 363,371

2022 2021
£4000 £000
5,037 6,519

22 56
10,486 -
15,545 6,575

During the year, management has reassessed the application of 1AS24 in respect of Key Management Personnel. This previously included the Directors of the

company only. Following the acquisition of the BMI Healthcare group in 2020 and the subsequent integration of the bust:

and establist

t of the new

gavernance structure in 2021, management now assess Key Management Personnel to Include the board of directors and a number of other key personnel
responsible ang invalved in key committees taking decisions relating to directing the operatians of the Group, The table above reflects the compensation,

in¢luding long tenm incentive awards grantad under Centene stock plans, for this grovp for both the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
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7.

Staff costs (continned)

Divectors' remuneration

2022 2021

£000 £000
Apgregate emoluments 2,291 2,671
Company eontributions ta money purchase pension scheme 3 1]
2,204 2677

Directors’ emolumenis relate to the company's Directors, who are remunerated by Cirele Health Holdings Limited, CHG Management Services Limited or Circle
Healih Group Linuited.

Post-employment henefits are accruing for one director (202 1: one director) under a defined contribution scheme.

The emoluments disclosed above include the following amoents paid to the highest paid Director:

2022 2021

£'000 £°000
Agpregate emoluments 1,121 1,114
Company contributions te money purchase pension scheme 3 [
1,124 i,120

The Directors of the company are also directors or officers of a number of othér companies within the ultimate parent group and are remunerated in respect of
services provided to the Circle Health Holdings Group. The Directors do not consider the time spant on individual compeny matiers to be material and therefore
have not sought to separate out their costs in respect of services to each individual company in the Circle Group. The amounts disclosed above are the Directors’
total emoluments &s per their cmployment contracts.

Finanee income

2022 2021
£000 £°000
Inlerest income 336 54
336 54
Finance costs
2022 2021
£000 £°000
Intergst expense under IFRS16 on lease liabilitigs* 120,714 119,366
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 17,074 18,010
137,788 137,376

*£119.3 million (2021: £118.5 million) relates fo the intcrest expense incurred on TFRS 16 right of use properties and £1.4 million (202(: £0.9 million) relates to
the interest expense incurred on TIFRS 16 right of use equipment assets held on finance leases.

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans includes £6.61n of finance costs written off as part of the Graup's debt refinancing (note 19).
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10, Tax on loss om ordinary activities:
‘The tax charge/(credit) is based on the loss for the year and comprises:
Cerporation income tax:
Curvent tax at 19%
Adjustment in respect of prior yesrs
Deferred tax:

Current year charge/(credit)
Adjustment in respect of prior years

Tatal tax on loss on ordinary activities
Tax charge in other comprehensive income

Tax chargef{credit) recognised in other comprenhensive income
Effects of change in rate of tax

Taotal tax in ather comprehensive income

Loss before tax:
Total operations

Less: profit of joint ventures and agsociates

Group loss on ordinary activitics ot continuing operations before tax

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19%
Effecls of:

Expenses (hat are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Income that is not taxable

Disposal of assets

Movement in deferred tax not recognised

Deferred tax vecognised in equity

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax chacge/(credit) in respect of previous periods

Tax chargef{credit) and effective tax rate for the year on continuing cperations

2012 2021
£000 £000
194 (8213
(503) 202
(409 (619)
(10,819) 1,719
4,243 174
(6,576) 1,893
(6.985) 1,274
(512 -
33) -
(145) B
(87,350) {51,402)
(1,691) (4,105)
{89,041) (55,507
(16,918) (10,546)
5,690 1,069
(1,608} (1,827
(595) (618)
2,049 10,604
145 -
612 2,216
1,640 376
(6.985), 1.274

The bmx ratc for the current year and prior yesy is 19.0%, The Finance Acl 2021 has incressed the rate of carporation tax to 25.0% Fom | April 2023. As this

change was substantively enacted at the balance shect date its effect has been included in these financial statements.
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11

Intangible assets

The amartisation charge for the year is included within the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income within administative expenses before exceptional
items.

Contracts and

Swahelulda Cupuiv

Cost Brand relationskips softyare Total

£:000 £'000 £:000 £:000
As at 31 December 2020 20,600 40,600 10,369 71,569
Additions - - 1,022 1,022
Transfers from langibls fixed assets - - 544 544
As at 31 Deceniber 2021 10,600 48,600 11,935 73,135
Additions - - 857 857
Disposals - - (68} (68)
Transfers from tangible fixed assers - - 4] 41
As at 31 December 2022 20,600 40,600 12,765 73,965
Accumulated amortisation and lmpairment
Asat 31 December 20620 4,965 5,492 4,460 14,917
Amortisation charge for the period 2,040 4,511 5254 11,805
As at 31 Decenber 2421 7,005 10,003 9,714 26,712
Aanortisation clarge for the period 2,040 4,537 2,096 8,672
Disposal - - (49) (49)
Impainment - - 2 i
As at 31 December 2022 5,045 14,540 11,761 35,348
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 13,595 30,597 2221 46413
At 31 December 2022 11,555 26,060 1,002 38,617

Tntangible asscts that are subject to amontisation are considered for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable,

Contracts and Stakeholder relationships
Circle holds several contracts with a number of [CBs which aflow the Company ta pravide specific clinical services, The contracts attract value given the

exclusivity they provide Circle with regard to service provision.

The value of these contracts are amortised over aiine years from April 2017, the date that they were acquired, which represents the estimated remaining econemic
useful life of the contracis,

On the acquisition of BMI Healthcare a firther £37 million was recogaised under this category, which represents relationships with practising medical
professionals held by BMI Healthcare as at the 8 January 2020, This asset is being amortised over nine years,

Brand
Circle ras a well-known and respected brand in thie areas wliere it aperates hospitals. It is also knovny acrass the UK in the healthcare industry among consultants

and suppliers.

The value of the brand is amortised over 15 years ffom April 2017, which represents the estimated remaining economic usoful life of the brand. The value of the
Circle brand is apportioned across the different cash generating units (CGUs) of the Group.

On the acquisition of BMI Healtheare a further £5 million was recognised under this category, which represents accounting value attributed Lo the BMI
Heaithcare brand, This is being amortised over five years,

Computer software
Computer saftware represents costs incuired fit relation t the Group’s information technology systems and is being amartised aver periads na mone thaa 3 years,
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12, Goodwill

£1000
Net Baok Amount as at 31 December 2020 147,478
Net Book Amount as at 31 December 2021 147,478
147,478

Net Book Amount as at 31 December 2022

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing annzally, or more frequently wltere there are indications that the goodwill may be impaired. Fhe recoverable amounts
of ali cash generating upits (CGUs) are delermined based on value in use caleulations, using discounted pre-tax cash flow projectious based on management
approved tinancial forecasts for the period of the contract. The key assumptions for these forecasts ave those relating 1o revenue growth and decline, based on
past experience and expectations of future clianges in relevant CGUs. The Group prepares cash flow forecasés derived fiom the most recent financial plans
approved by management for the period of the contract.

The time period over which management has projected cash flows varies based on each CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. The
fivancial plans reflect past experience and incorporate assumptions in terms of volumes, the mix of palient treat is and tariff changes. This (akes into
consideration contract lengths. Any projections for future years beyond the peried in financial plans approved by management are extrapolated ai a growth rate of
2% based on past experience and future expeetations. The discount rate used is 8.35% (2021: 8.38%), which is the estimated weighted average cost of capital far
the Group. All CGUSs are funded using the Group's senior facilities and therefore the Group discount rate has been applied to alt CGUs in determining the value

in use for impairment.

The Group has conducted a sensilivity analysis on the carrying value of each of the CGUs. There are no reasonably passible changes in the key assumptions that
could cause the carrying value of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts.

Based on the resull of the value in use caloulations undertaken, the Directors conclude that the recoverable amount in the integrated care and private hospitals
£GUs exceed their carrying value.

Allocation of Goodwill to each CGU

2022 2021

£'000 £2000
Private hospitals (including BMI Healtheare business acquisition) 146,588 146,688
Iniegrated carc : 790 790
147,478 147,478

Goodwill has been allocated to each CGU based on an implied purchase price for each CGU during the acquisition by Circle Health Holdings Limited, and the
net assets held by each CGU at that time. A discounted cash flow approach was used fo assist in aHocating the purchase prics to those CGUs.
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13, Praperty, plent aad equipmene

Rkt daicts

Furnfiure, Furaiture,

Cuildings and fitlings and 1ittngs and

Astets yader leasshald Cllaleal office Cilnlest affice
Cost conmtric ton P ipaneni i i Tata!
€000 £1000 008 £'ove een £'000 £7000 1000
Al1Janoary 2021 35,100 108,867 58,590 2,141 1663,132 18,302 1313 1,893,045
Additions 25,833 19,410 15,632 5,384 45,128 19,762 - 131,168
Disposaks {33} 9 @z @ (64.036) - (2,285} 166,412)
Transfers {2,330} 5,153 (1,673 (2,668) - {1372y 2,18 -
Transfers 12 Intangible astets (549} - - - - - - {544y
At 3 Decemiier 2011 and 1 Jonuary 1922 STIAL 133,623 72,517 1,644,224 34,782 1,266 1,957,258
Addiions 22,643 17381 18,795 42416 16312 - 128212
Disposals £3,131) 16,665) {5.202) {6,570} FEEH [172) {21.295)
Transfirs (12,0501 16,266 1,603 - - . -
Transters ta intanglbe assets. (23] - - - - M
At 31 December 1921 59,612 161,305 EERET) FTRIT] 1,679.780 31,08t L0 2,963,133

Furnitare, Furnlture,

Dujldings snd fitsings and Mnings and

Assels under leasehold Chanleal office Clinlcal affice
Accamulaied depreciation pad b i i i) iNdi qulp p: Total
£'490 £'000 £'000 £000 £:000 L0 £'000 £:000
Al 1 daoary 2021 (7.588) 5,337) (3,382} {97,836 {5.698) 492) (127,363}
Depreciation charpe for the year - (10,703) (16.508) {540 {40,559) ann (423) 93,651)
Disposals - - 16 1 4,716 - 1828 5821
Transfers - - (2630 619 - 263 {619) -
Iepaimenl (charpereversal (2,632) 435 £77 9l (7,250} 1,288 - {7,390}
AUM December 1021 and § Jonuary 2023 FEXE) 7,436 EALS) [CXTE S FTTEE) ) EXG]] (50 @i1582)
Dreproviation charge for the year - (11.546) (15.006) (4,021) (s8.822) {6.13) (332) 96,520}
Disposals - 266 5101 289 2,545 i2 - 8223
Trnsfers - 314 (859} 585 - - - -
fnipainment {charseliroversal (snay {1,857y 6,149) (271 (25.976) (2:426) (3 (37,899
At 31 Decemtier 2022 . (3,2¢6) (30,659} 159,958 (12,831) (243.462) (16,220} (923 {348, TFE]

Net book amuount

At 31 Dzcember 2021 55,349 115,787 50,112 1,643 1,483,305 25,718 1,760 £131676
At 31 December 2012 56,396 130,446 4779 5,09 1,436,518 31,860 1,371 1714355

The cashflow foracasts nsed in the prior year impairment reviews were reviewed against actual performance. Where indicators af impairment exist, impairmaut tests were performad
using the recoverable amounts of the assets' cash-generating units. Each hospital is deemned to be its own CGU, The discount rate used in measvring value in use was 8.35% per
annumt (pre-lax) (2021; 8.38%). The Company also estimated the fair value less costs of disposal of these asscts, which is based on the recent market prices of assets with similar age
and obsolescence. The fair value Jess costs of dispasal is less then e value in use znd henee the recoverahle amaunt of the retevant assets lias been dotermingd on (he basis of their

value in use,

CGUs Ihat recorded an impainment charge was 25 n result of specific local market conditions impacting volume of future trading, ‘The impainnent charge for the year was £37.9
million (202]: £1 1.3 million) and the impairment reversal was £nil (202 1: £3.9 million), with the net impairment charge of £37.9 million (2021: £7.4 million) recognised in the

Consolidated Statement of Comprehiensive Income,

The Group has conducled a sensitivity analysis on lhe langible and intangible assets impairment test of the C(iUls where thers are indicalors of impairmenl and the group ol units

carrying value, as follows:

+ Tfthe pre-tax WACC rate was increased/decreased by 1.0 perceniage point, the overall impairment would (increase)/decrease by (£7.8) miliion/£9.0 niillion,



Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Pageds

14,

Investments

Dztails of the investments in which Circte Health Heldings Limited holds 20.00% ar more of the pominal value of any class of share capital.

Prapartion of

Nature of Dusiness

Company nanle vating rights  Sharc Registered office
held class
Substdlary undertakings
Circle Internationzl ple H00% Holding
CHG Management Services Limited 100% Holding and managenient
Natious Healthcars Limited [00% Holding
Cirele Nottingham Limited 100%, Provision of healthcare services
Cirele Hospital (Reading) Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Birmingham Limited 100% Pravision of healthcare services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Provision of healthcare services
Circle Health § Limited® 100% Holding
Circle Health 2 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Health 3 Limited 100% Holding
Circle Heaith 4 Limited 1008 Holding
GHG Healthcare Holdings Limited 0% Holding
General Healilicare Group Limited 100% (st Floor 30 Helding
Bishopswaod SPY Limited 1004 C s ogr Provision of bealthcare services
Cirele Health Group Limited 100%% Ordinary a"[‘j‘:nd treet, Provision of healthcare services
adon,
Cirele Decontzmination Limited 100% shares England, EC4M Provision of deconlamination services
H6XH .

BMI Syon Clinic Limited 50% Provision of healthcare services
General Healthcare Haldings (2) Limited 100% Investment holding
General Healthcars Holdings (3) Limited 100% Investment holding
GHG (DB) Pension Trustces Limited 100% Pension Trustee
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% Investrnent holding
GHG Leasing Limited 100% Provisioz of healthcare services
North West Cancer Clinic Limited L00% Pravision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPVY Limited 160% Provigion of berliheare services
GHG Mount Alvernia Hospital Limited 100% [nvestrment holding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Investment holding
Circle Clinical Services Limited 100% Provision of healibcare services
TKH Holding Ltd 100% Holding
Citcle Health MyWay Limited 100 Health plan subscription services

. . i Ordivary 12 Castle Street, .

5 :

Circle Holdings (OS) Limited 100%% shares St. Helicr, Jersey, Holding
Associate undertakings and jolnt ventures
BM! Iniaging Clinic Limited 50% Provision of healthcare services
BMI Southend Private Hospital Liméled 50% tst Floor 30 Provision of healthcare services
Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging Centre Limited 50% Ordinary  Cunnon Street, Provision of healthcare services
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% shares En L"’:";’MM Provision of healihcare services
Mouut Alvernia PET CT Limited 41% s Provision of healthcare services
The Pavilion Clinie Limited 50% Pravision of healthcare services
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% Management services

N . Ordinary Run 905-906, %/F Houston Ctr, a3 .

)
Circle Harmony Heallh Limited 50% shares Mody Road, TST, KL, Hong Kong Managaraent services
. . . Rmi 145, 11/F, Carlton Bldg, Ne.21

iﬁ?ihda' Cirele Hamory Hospital Management 50% g::l_'e":ly Huanghe Road, Huangpu Disteict, Management scrvices

Shanghai, China

*Dirgetly held by Circle Healtl Holdings Limited. All othier entities listed are held indi

ly through i

in other group campanies.

Sec note 15 for changes in the Group's shareholding percentage in North West Cancer Clinic Limited that occurred during the year.

Subsequent to the year end the directors of TKH Limited entered into a vohmtary strike off, with the company being struck off on 6 June 2023,
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Investments (cantinued)

Subsidiary audit exemption

The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempt frort the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (1he Act) relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue

of section 4794 of the Act.

Campany natne

CHG Managemen! Services Tinited
Natious Healthcare Limited

Circle Nottingham Limited

Circle Hospital (Reading) Limited
Circle Rehsbilitation Services Limited
Cirele Health t Limited

Circle Health 2 Limited

Circle Health 3 7.imited

Circle Health 4 Limited

Qeneral Healthcare Group Limited
GHG Healtheare Holdings Eimited
Bishopsweod SPV Limited

Circie Decontamination Limited

General Healtheare Holdings (2) Limited
General Healtheare Holdings ¢3) Limited

GHG Intermedinte Holdings Lisnited
GHG Leasing Limited

North Wesl Caneer Clinic Limited
Runpymede SPV Limited

Cirele Health Myway Limited

Company number

05042771
Q4523677
05153608
06995585
10527747
12108495
12108525
12108431
12258549
04026079
05740193
04252401
06003075
04025992
04062897
04210585
01551992
05706220
04252392
14186896

Circle Health Holdings Limited will guarantee all outstanding liabifitics that these subsidiaries are subject to as at the financial year end 31 December 2022 in accordance

with section 479C of the Comipanies Act 2006 as aménded by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Changes of

Accounting Framewaork) Regulations 2012,

Bhares in asyaciates gnd Joint ventures

Carrying amount of individually immalsiiat associales
Carrying amownt of individually immaterial joint ventures
Tatal carrylng amount for equity accounted investees

The Group accounts tor all its investments in associales and joint ventures in its consolidated financial statements using the equity method, as set out in note 3.

Individually immaterial jeint ventures

Summary of financial iformation

Prafit from continuing operations and fotal comprehensive income

There was no ather comprehensive income or profit or loss from discontinued operations (2021: £nil) for joint ventures held by the Group,

Individually immaterial associates

Summary of financial information

Profit from centinuing operations and total eamprehensive inceme

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
657 276
3,642 4,866
4,299 5,142
2022 2021
£1000 £1000
3,902 2,535
2022 2021
£00¢ £'000
2,762 3,299

There was no other comprehensive inconie or profil or loss fom discontinued operations (2021 £nii) for assaciates held by the Group.



Page 47

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

15, Non-controling interests

At 31 December 2021, the Group had 2 subsidizry underiakings with a non-controtling interest. These wera BMI Syon Clinic Limited and iNorth West Cancer Clinic
Limited. On 30 September 2022, the Group purchased the renajning 1 0% interest in North West Cancer Clinie Limited, increasing its ownership from 90% ta 100%,
Thersfore al 31 December 2022, the Group had one subsidiary undertaking with a non-controlling interest, A summary of financia! information for individually

immaterial non-coatcolfing interests are given below.

2022 2021
£'000 £7000
‘Lotal assets 8444 4,530
Total liabilities (3,298) (1,052)
Net assets 5,146 3,483
PBrafit for the period 601 886
Net cash outflow {6) (6}
2022 2021
£:000 £1000
Acquistition of NCI
Carrying amount of NCI acquired 459 -
Catsideration paid to NCI (146} -
An increase in equity attributable to owners of the company 319 -
16, nventories
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Consumabies . 17,746 17,276
There is no significant difference hetween the cepl cost of bles and their carrying amount. At 31 December 2022, an amount of £2.9 million (2021: £3.2

million) has been provided against the gross cost of inventarics.

Leases (Group as a lessee}

The Group has lease contracls for hospitals, furniture, fitings and office cquipment, and clinical squipment. The amaunts recognised in the financial statements in

relation to these are as follows:

Amounts recognised in tle statement of flnancial positlan 22 2021
£'000 £2000
Right-of-use assets
Buildings 1,436,618 1,483,305
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 1,171 1,760
Clinieal equipment 32,861 25,718
1,470,650 510,784
Lease liabilities
Current (14,159) (8,065)
Non-current (1,763,298) (166602t}
{1,717,457) (1,674,086}
A ts recogniscd in the stat t of comprehensive income
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Buildings 58,822 60,554
- Furniture, fitings and office equipment 38z 423
Clinical equipment 6,743 3,917
65,947 64,899
2022 2021
Amounts recognised in profit and loss £'000 £'000
Diepreciation expeuse on right-of-use assels 65,947 64,899
Interest expense on lease liabilities 120,714 118,366
487 4

Txpense relating to short.term znd Jow value leases

The totak cash outflow for leaess during the period amount to £131 millien (2021; £126 million),
The Group [eases several assets including buildings, plant and clinical equipment, The average lease lem is 25 years (2021; 26 years),

The Group has options 1o extend Jease termy, as well as purchase cerfain equipment for a nominal amount al the end of the lease term. The Group’s obligstiens are secured by
the Jessors” title to the Jeased assets for such leascs,



Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statcments
for the year ended 31 December 2022 {conlinued)

Page 48

Trade and other receivables

Current Current
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Trade receivables 85,426 67,219
Less: pravision for impaiment (4,656) (3,751
Net Irade reccijvables 80,770 63,468
Prepayments and accrued income 1,369 2,181
Other receivatiles 9,819 3,510
Tax receivable 1,215 553
93,173 75,712
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
£'000 £000
At 1 Jamuary 3,751 4,384
Ingrease/(decrease) in the year 205 (633)
At 31 Decernbior 4,656 3,751

The movement in the aliowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year is reflected within administrative expenses in the income statement.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivables was as follows:

2022 2021

£:000 £000
Not past dee 60,597 44,171
Past due 0-30 days 9,627 6,762
Past due 3160 days 520 2,817
Past due by mwsre than 60 days 10,026 9,718
80,770 63,468

Trade receivables, from contracts witl customers, are non-interest bearing and eredit terms are generally 30 days. The above recivables ave not imipaired because
management believe they are fuily recoverable,

As per IFRS 9, the tiroup follows the simplified appronch to caleulating a loss allowance for trade and other receivables.

Each site uses a formula to caleulate the expected credit loss ("ECLY). The expected eredit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financial positian, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, gencral
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forccast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. Trade receivables have been grouped based on sharcd characteristics {c.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it reflects the risk of credit rigk, as this risk
increases when the age increases.

A different pescentage aliowance is used for each purchaser type to refiect the varying credit risk. This pereentage allowance reflects the likelihood of default, and the
anticipated shortfall of cash if default ocowrs.

The Group has not significantly changed the expected loss rates for trade receivables from the priar year based on its Judgement of the impect of cconomic conditions
and the forecast direetign of travel at the reporting date. There has been no change in the estimation techniques during the current reporting period.

The Group writes off a irade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, £.g. when the debtor has been placed vader liguidation or has entered inte bankruptsy proceedings. None of the trade réccivables that bave been written off’
are subject to enforeement activities.

As the Group's historical credit loss experience does not show significantty different loss patterns for different custarer segments, the provision for loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different customer segments,

The Directors consider the currying amount of cash and cush equivalents approximate to their fair value,
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19, BoTroniags
Non-current Non-cutrenl
2012 21
£'000 £900
T.oansg 161,848 219,848
Prepaid finance costs @14 (5,810]
161,034 214,038
Secured bermawings ar¢ nicasured al amortised cost.
The Growp hield three principal bank loans gs at 31 Dvcentber 2021:
() a loan of £1 78n which carried interest aca rate of 6.5 per cent abave SON1A a3 a1 31 Deveraber 2021
{b} a loan of £2001 which carvied interest ot g o of 3.25 per capt abave SONLA a5 at 31 December 2021
{<} a loan of £20m which carricd imcrest at o rate of 6.3 per cent abave SONLA as at 31 Docernber 2021
On 25 May 2022 the Group refinanced its senior bormawing facilicies with a new £256 millian, three year, revolving facilicy. This facility is graranieed by Uie Group's ullimate parent company, Cemene
[« fun andall &I da th lidaled Centene G fon kxel Anmitial £180 millicn of Ihis Mcility was drawn on this date and 1his, along with £38 inillion of cash on Laod, was

used fo repay the ahave thees toans held at 31 December 2021 jn full. During this transaction, capitalised prepatd finggee costs of £8.6m were witlen off to the O idated Stat, 1 of Camprel
Income within Gaance costs.

Al the year epd, £160m of the new facilily ramains drawn down. This balanec carries interest al a mte of 1,25 per cem ebove SONLA as a1 31 Dovember 2022 and is repayable in fll an 24 May 2025,

The Gicoup also holds & umber of unsecured Joans with VAMED Management tnd Service GrubH. a former shatcholder of Circle Relabitifaiien Services Limified., The toial balance ol these Jeans outstanding
asat 31 Decemnber 2022 and 2021 was £b.8m. Interest accrucs on the outstanding foatt balanice at 2 rete of 1.5%. Based on deads of amendrment issued in 2018, the loans and acerued Interest are not expested to
e repayable before 11 Becembes 2023, No amounts are due in meore than five yeass,

Seerota 29 for an analysis of the maturity profil? for e sbave joars.

20, Reconciliation of Nlabllities srising from fnatieing actvitles

~

A1 January Mon-tash At

022 movemenls* Cash figwr Decomier 2022

£'000 £'000 L'ogo £000

Loans end vther borrowings (214.038) (6.018) 59,020 {161,034}

Lease lizbifities (1,674,086) {53,970 10,599 {1, T17457)
“Tatal 1,888,124 59,986 £%,61% 1,878,401

*Non-cash movements are comprised of the follawing:

¢ liabil jt

The nct irpact on dease liabiliies of RS 16 right of use asset additions of £58. 7 mitlion, migi of use asser disposals of £4.5 axillior and ather non cash chianges of £6.7 million.
Loans apd ether bomowinas
Wrile off ol prepaid nance costs (see note 19) f6.6m
Amortisation of prepaid finance costs during hie year £0.6m.
. Deferred tax

The following are the major defermred ax liabilities and assets recopnised by the group and movements thereen during the current and prior reporing periad.

Charpe Charpe Charge Effecis of chasgae
Al Adjusimeats  / (creditite  f(credit) to n fax rite A3l
Januacy ta income for ihcame equity to income December
2032  priorperiods  statement statzment 2012
£000 £0ca £000 £000 £000 00
Accelerated tax depreciation (1.404) {34913 4775 - 2,140 1320
Qther tirming differences (3,808) 1489 {3.262) (145} {1.478) (11,204)
Leases 7,315 10,073 (1,392 - (4403 15,556
Laod and buitdings 519 - (Y]] - (150) 19,295
Intangfhle pssets 16,711 - (9a8) - G 9411
Derivatives 22393 - {4,936) - 390 17,847
Tax losees {30,293) {3,828} 12,869) - [1,793) (38,813)
Net deferred tax Liability 11,133 4243 £2.176) {145) {1641 4412

Deferred tax balances have been renwasured at thie rates they are expected 1o revemse, which is mainly sl 25%.

£
i
g
ki
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1 Tiefereed ta {eaptipued)
Certain deferred tax nssets and lisbilities have been offsel, The following is the aalysTs of the deferred tax balances (afer offset) for financinl reponting purposes:
2012 2021
£000 £000
Deferred 1ax liabifities 54427 51337
Deefemed lax assels (50015) {40201
4411 3
A deterved 1ax Bapilty of ££0.30 million (2021 £10.92 millien) has beeo recognised in respect of fixed assets that have beznt acquired as pant of business combinatians. O Ls amounl, £1).5%
milion (20213 £1),21 million) represenus the deferred lax Liability on the valus of asscis (hat witl be recavered through use and £0.29 millisn (202 1: £0.2% milkion) the deferved tax assct that is
anticipated to ¢r¥gallise on an éventual sale of the Temaining assels at their net book value,
Deferred tax asserg velating 1o tax [osses of £101.33 million (2021: E100.11 miliion), and capital losses of £8.78 million (2021: £0.78 million) hiave not been recognised as there is insufficient
gvidence that the qesets will be recavered.
The deferred 19X yssel nol cecopnised i (be Financial g1atements is os follews:
2021 2011 2021 2021
Tax valoe Gross value Tax value Gross value
2300 £000 £000 £000
Tax Josses carmied forward 101,329 405,315 160,108 400,431
Capital losses 778 3110 T3 3,110
Deductibile lempocary differences — fixed asscls 17 70 157 629
- T .
Deferrad tax assels on Jasses have beed recogatied in accordance with 1AS 12 in order 16 offset Lnnwa 12X labilities. Whilst profits are anticipaled in future periods against which to offset
zadditional broughy farward tax Iosses, duc to the history of loss 1aking and the uncentainties faced by the privale health market and the sensitivity of this market to the Covid pandemic o deferred
1oy asset has been recognised on the basis of fisure profitability. This will continue to be monitored at ¢ach balance sheet date.
Temporury diffeztnees arising in conaextion witls inlecests in associales and joint vantures are insigaificant,
12, Trade and other payables
1022 2021
£'000 £4000
Trade payables 86,119 92,596
Aceruals 1,113 70,211
Sacial sécuity and gther taxation 204 250
Othier payables 11310 6,652
178,756 169,769
The average eredit days is 15 doys (20212 40 days)
Contract liobllities consisy of advance payments and billings to patinls in excess af servicss provided and casts incurred and warranties on services perfornmed. Advanca payments and billings ace typically essociated
with cur scif pay patients. All contract Kabiljties are current and are included within other payables. At 31 December 2022 the Group had contzct liabilities of £3,058 millian (202 1: £5,625 million). Revedue on
consruct liabifities is recognised when performanee obligations bave been compleled.
23, Pravisloms
Fotare
penslon
Yraviston far commitnient Ditapldatlans
lopal claims a provision Tolal
£'000 £'0a3 £1000 £060
Al 1 January 2022 15,725 i54 1,325 17,204
Additional provision in the year 737 . - 137
Unilisation of pravisian {2,926) (36 {300) (3,262)
AU31 December 2022 13, 118 1025 14,670
Of which falling dus:
- within ane year 13,536 118 1025 14,679
- subsequently _ - . -
d costs of settl based on 2 *s best estiniate on a case-by-case basis of ihe

As {5 usual i the sector, the Group is subject to a number of |egal clainis. Provision has been made for the
outcomes of seitiements, eithec i or out af ¢ourt, and using a projestion of the cosls of claiens incurred but nol yet cepored.

The defined benefit pension scieme provision represents the Ciroun's estinted futura coutributions to two defined bonefit pension schemes.

The dilapidations provision refates 10 amaunts duc in celation ta various buildings 1hat were vacated during prior years.
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Shars cvpita) and chare premium

Autherlsed 2022 2011
£ £
Ordinacy shares (Chass A Ordinary Sharesyof £0.0] ¢ach 943 945
Ordibaty shares {Class B Ordinary Shates) of £6.01 each 100 100
Ordinary shares {Class C Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 each 10 10
Preference shares o7 £0.01 each 56,019 19,851
s 20,908
Allottzd ang fully pald up
Par value Shares Share capital Share preptiun Total
Ordinary Class A shares: (number) £ £
At 1 January 2021 wad 2022 081 94478 943 129,8£2 448 179,813,393
At 31 Decenber 2021 and 2022 94478 45 129,811,448 119, Bl!é?l
Par value Sharcs Shiare capleal Share premunt Total
Ordinary Class B shares: (number) i £ [
AL ) January 2021 and 2022 0.01 10,000 i00 395,162 199,262
AL 31 December 2021 and 2022 10,000 100 399!I62 399,262
Par valve Shares Share capital Share premfum Total
Ordinary Class C shares: {number) i i £
Al 1 January 2021 and 2022 0.01 1 10 - 10
Al 31 Decernber 202 | and 2027 1,000 10 - 10
Par value Shares Share capital Stiore premium Total
Profereace shares: {numbery £ £ £
At 1 lanuary 2021 pod 2022 0.01 1,985,075 19,851 71,264,390 71,284,241
Oiher movements 0.01 3,617,780 36,178 (36,178 -
At 31 Docember 2021 and 2022 ___ 5,602,855 !B!BZD Tlé}ﬁéll it 184!1-11

Riphts afsharas
The rights of shaes ara contained in the Company’s Articles of Assaciation and summarised below.

Vating
The holders of A and B shares have Lhe right Lo vole thefr shares at any general meeling oftbe Company. The boldrs of the Prefrence and C shares bave na entitkment 1o vote their shares al any general mezting aof
the Company but have the right to vote 2 class meeling of iha Praference and C shares, Fespectively,

Income

“The holders of Preference Shares have the right ta dividands declared by the Company, pravided that the amount of any dividend, in apgragate with ather dividends and distributions to the holders of Preference
Shares, {s nat in excass of the paid up emount of those shures. Subject te any priority distribution of profils amongst 1lie holders of Preference Shares, the holders of A and B shares shall reczive dividends pro rata o
the paid up omouwnt of those shares, The holders of C shares have na dghts to receive dividends.

Capita

The rights of bolders of dfTerent ¢lasses of shares 1o capityl undr different seenarfos, including cxit events, are st dul in the Company's Articles. The priorily of capilad is: Lo helders of Prefercnse Shares, up (o the
paid up amoun! of those shares; 1o holders af A and B shares, with the distibution between shares contingent on the nature of the evanl, the amount involved and the retuns ta defined groups of holders of A and B
shares; fnally, o0 C shares, with the entith to halders being il on the nature of the evant and if the amount asso¢tated with the gxit event Involvad is in excess of defined retum hordles to other
sharehalders, in which casc Ihe C shares have fhe righl to participate in ritumg above defined hordles.

During 2021, MH Services fnternational (UK) Linsited, which held 40 per cent af the equity of the Company, acquired the remaining 60 per canl. This included acquiring all shares hield by Dircclors of the Company
and other emplayess of the Graap. All these shares had been acquired by thes2 individuals at fair value feom uther shareholders in prior periods. Tliese arrangements felt within the scape of [FRS 2 and were treated
s an equity-seitied sBare based Iansaction. IFRS 2 requiras the fair value at grant date of equity-settled sharc-based payinent Lransactions to be expensed ovér the vesting period with a corresponding incréase in
equily, taking Jfto secount the bist available estimate of the number of shares expocied to vest under the serylee conditions. As the sharcs fully vested in 2021, 2 charye of £213,000 was made o the income
statemenl with a correspending credit in aquiry.

Om 25 Jamuary 2023 all shares were redesignated as Ordinary shares with their rights setoutin the Articles of Association which were updated at that date.

Parent Company Long Term Stark Plan

The long term slock plan is a stock plan put in place by the vltimate parent compairy of Circle Health Holding Limited This stock plan allows fer awards to be made in the form of options, restricted stock, rostricted
stock unies, stock appreciution sights and any other stock-hnsed awards. The Cirele grants under ihis glan solely relate 1o Restrieied Stock Units ("RSUs") ond Performance Slock Linits ("PSUs") over S0.001 par
value common stack iu Centene Inc. and bave no cash cost to the Chrele Group,

The accounting skandards (IFRS2) requise an dccounting (non-cash} charge 1o be made in the inancial statemens of the Cirele Geoup for such awards, with the comespanding eredit tken to equily given Lhere Is no
liability for the Circle Group for shares awarded vnder the Jong term stock plan.

Dusing the year ended 31 Decersber 2022 the ulliniate parent company granted RSUs and PSUS under these stock plants 16 selectad direciors and employees of the Circle Goep,

RSUs grated to these diractors snd emphoyecs are subject ta farfeiture if the employec terminates employment prior to vesting canditions being satisfied. PS1Js are subject to an additional ron-market performance-
based condltion wiich must be et 10 allow vesting Lo occur. The leve) of PSU vesting is determined by the level of sharehalder vafue generation achieved.

The weighted average shars price at ihie setilemnent date for shose for RSUs and PSUs setiled during the year ums $92 97

The faic value of each RSU and [SU Is estimated on the date of gront as the share price at the date of gram, The fuir value of RSUs granted in the year was £18,237,000. The fair value of PSUs granted in the year
waos £9,572,000.

The 1ol accouming charge is cakulated based an & number of faclors and assumptions, and the amount recordzd for Lbe year rehatzd to eruployee skare-based plass was £11,281,000.

The table below gives a recoticiliation of movements in the number of RSUs and PSUs cutstanding,

1012 PSUs 2021 RSUs 2021 PSUs 1021 RSUs

Numbers® Numbers Munthers Numibers
Qutstaadiog at | January - . - .
Granted 156,215 188,485 - -
Setiled {2,160) (2,132) - -
Forfeited (2159 (4,730) - -
Chstanding at 31 Decembsr 151,908 251,623 = ~

*The PSUs vest between lhe range of 0% ond 200% dependent on the performance achicved against fargets sel.
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kAl

26.

a7

THspnsat af snhsidlary {prinr perind)

T carly 2021, the Graup entered inlo & sale agreement ta sell Cirele Hopsital (Bath) Ltd and (he lrmsoction completed on 1 June 2031, The divestment was effected ns part of the agreed remedy following the CMA
arder fssued a3 a result oF the Group's acquisition of BT Heakheare in 2020,

The net liabilitias of Ciecle Hospital (Bath) Ltd at the date of disposal were as follows:

201
£7000
Property, plant and equipment 11,330
Tnventaries 623
1l ahd difés receivebles [HIET
Bank balances and cash 1,063
Trade and other payables {26,284)
Net lisbilities disposed of (1,416}
Gahni on dispasad 3,267
1851

Total consideraliod
Satisfied by:

Casiz and ¢ash equivaients 1,851

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
Consideration received in cash and cash aquivalents £,851
Less: cash and cash equivatents disposed of {1,063)
788
——

Naies to the cash Aow statemeni

Net cash Bow from aperating activities.

W 0210
£7000 £'000
Lass hefore rax {87.350) (51.402)
Adjustments lort
Share of profit of associates and jainl ventires 1,681 (4,068)
Inspaimient of fixed assets {see nots 5) A7304 7391
Financé costs 137,788 13737
Finanee inoenie (note 8) {136} [62)]
Amwrtisation of intaugible essets (note 11} 8672 11,805
Depreciation of right-of-usa property, plan aind equipaient {note 13) 65,947 64,899
Diepreciation of ather property, plan and equipment (nate 13) 10,573 28,752
LossHprofity on disposal of fixed ossets 1,767 14,307
Profit en dispasat of subsidiary (note 25) - {3,267
Amouns vested under IFRS 2 {note 24) - 213
Eqully-settied shace -based paymient transaction (note 24) 11,28 -
291,902 251,354
Operaiing cashRows before movements to worklng caplual 204,552
Movements in weoeking capital:
« Incréaso in Inventaries H10) (350}
- (IncreaseVdecrease in trade and other receivahles (18,335) 5,937
« Increase/{decrease) in frade and other payables 13,303 (27,148}
199,080 184.393
Rettrement benefit plans
Defined cantribution scheme
The Group operates defined contribution refirensent benedit schewmes for all its quatifying employess.
2012 mn
£'000 £9000
Total contribution custs charged lo the incomne stolement in respeet
of 8,455 (2021: 9,739} members 10,369 10,037
Contributions totalling £1,888 000 (2021 :£1,678,0000 were payable lo the fiund at the reperting date.
Dafined benelit schemes
The Campatty sponsors a funded defined benefit pensicn plan for g UK eopl the General Healtheare Group Limited Peosion and Lifa Assurance Plan. The Plan is adwiinistered by GHG {D8) Pension

Trustees Limited, an independent bsice, The Trustee is requiced by law ta 3ct in the interest of all relevant beneficiaries and aré responsible for the invesiment prlicy for the assets ond the day-10-day administration
of the benefits.

Under the Plan, employecs arg entidled 1o annuat pensions on retirameat atage 63 for each year of service. The Plan is closed 1o future accrual, The level of benefits accued by members is based on the tength of thelr
Pensionable Service and their Pensionable Salaries at the carlier of the date om which 1hey left the Plan or the date ai which the Plan closed 1o U future aceraal of benefits.
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27. Retirement benefit plans {continued)

Profile of the plan

The Delined Benefit Obligation (DBO) includes benefits for former employees and current pensioners The benefits under the Plan were secured by way of an insurance conuact with Aviva m 2020. at which point
about 63% of the liabihiics were atinbutable to deferred pensioners and 3 7% 1o current pensioners The data supplied for this exgicise indicates a L6% shuft in the Labihties with only 47% of the Iabilitics now
attnibutable 10 the deferred pensioners and 53% to the current pensioners.

The Plan duration 15 an indicator of the weighted-as crage tme until benefil payments are made, For the Plan as a whole, the duration 1s approximately 13 years.

Risks asseciated with the plan
The Plan has now sold mast of its asscts and cntered into as annuity contract with Aviva. As such, marty of the risks it was presiously axposed 10 have been removed Tinvestment, inflation and langenity nsk arc
removed as Aviva are contractually obliged (0 fund members' benefits in the future. However, the Trustee still retains the legal responsibility to pay members' benefits w each individual member

Funding requiremernts
UX legislation requires that pension Plans are funded prudendy. The last funding 1ahuauon of the Plan was carried out by a gualified actuary as at 30 September 2021 and showed a surplus of £3. 7. Now Lhat the
buy-w is complele, the Compan 15 no longer paving deficit cantributions The Plan 15 espected (o transition (o buy-out in the near future and there will be ne need for acwuarial valuations in the futurs

Reporting at 31 December 2022

The liabilities of the Scheme were valued as at 30 Sepiember 2021, using a data extract provided by the admimistrators for the purposes of valumng the benefits secured under the insurance contract These results
were prajected (o the valuation date of 31 December 2022 allowing for changes in market conditions. and diffarences in the financial and demograptuc assumpticns. The present value of the Delined Benefit
Obligalion v as measured using the projected unit credit method The directors consider they have a right to amy surplus asset on the final scitlement of all schewne habihties but have not recognised an asset for this
surplus as this 1s not considered matenial (@ the financial stataments

The principal assumptions used to calculale the hatilibes under 1AS 19 are as follows:

1022 2021

% o

Discount rate 48 2.0
Future pension increases 30 3.1
CPI inflation 24 16
RPI inflation 3.0 32

The financial assumptions reflect the natwe and term of the Plan’s lialnlises

Mortality rate

Pensioner life expectancy assumed as at 31 Deeember 1s based on the S2P tables with scaling factors of 103% for male deforred pensions. 100% for male current pensioners, 91% for female deferred pensioners
and for 89% for female carrent pensieners, Fulure improvements in longevin: are assumed in hne with the CMI 2021 projection model with a smaothung factor of 7 and a long term rate of improvement of 1 23%
pa. Samples of the ages Lo which pensioners are assuned to live are as follows

1012 2028
Life expectancy for male currently aged 63 6.3 86.3
Lilc expectancy for female currently aged 63 292 9.2
Lite expectancy al 63 for male currently aged 43 875 87.6
Life expectancy al 63 for emale currently aged 43 90.7 908

Seresitivity to key ussumptions
The hey assumptions used for [AS 19 are: discount rats, wflation and montahty:. If different assumptions were used. this could have a material effeet on the idenucal salues placed on the habilies and the insured
assel The sensitiv ity of the yesults to these assumiptions is set out below

Change MNew value

Following a 0.25% decrease in the discount rate: £'000 £°000
DBO at 21 December 2022 £2,129) 75,525
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7.188
Following a 0.25% increase in the inflation assumption:
DBO at 31 December 2022 1,34+ 79.098
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7,188
Following a one year increase in life expectancy:
DBO at 31 December 2022 2267 79.921
Surphus at 31 December 2022 - 7188
Present value of obligation 2022 2021

£'00 £7000
At beginning of the period 118,016 125,593
Interest cast 2,316 1,721
Actuarial loss (38,287) {4.028)
Benefit paymerts {4,421) £3.270%
At end of the year 77,654 LB O
Fair value of schere assets 2022 2021

£'000 £000
At beginning of the period 126,389 134,001
Expecied reurn on scheme assels 1,484 1,839
Actuarial loss (38,6569) {3,862}
Bencfit payments (4,421) (3,270}
Administeation ¢xpenses (941) {3299

At end of the year 84,842 126,389
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1%

Rethebent bendGt plans {eontinued)

Asset classes of scheme assefs . i
The Plan #3sc1s are invested in tbe following asset chasses, Al invested nssels haves 2 quoted market valuc in an active market. None of the assets arc invested in the Campuny®s finaacial instrumenis or in property
accupied by, or oliwer assers used by, the Company.

2012 W2
£'000 £'000
Cash inghuments and stegling deposits 6,803 8,069
Cashat bank 385 3ad
Annuity comrzct 77654 118016
Acend gf the year B43i2 126,389
The reconsilfation ta the amount shown on the balance sheet is a¢ fofllaws: 1z 2021
100 £000
Presient yatue of obligalion (71,654) (158016)
Fair value of scheme assets 84,842 126,389
Unrecapnised portion of scheme assels {7,188) 8,173
et surphus recognised - -
No amiounts have been {sed in the i income stalament for the currant or grior year. The admicdstration expenses for the phan are s¢tiled by the scheme ond are thezefore not recognised within the
cousolidaed income statement.
The nel ampent recagaised in reserves is as follews:
3 Decernber 31 December
1022 2021
£:900 £1000
Actwarial pain on scheme obligations 38,257 4.028
Actuarial Jass on scheme asscls (38,669) {3,862}
Movement in wnrecognised pension sorpbus 1,353 83713
Actuarial lags on defined benelit pension schemes 941 8,539
Net effect i reserves arising from movensents on fature scheme corwdtazent {941) (8,339)

Analysls of gainsflosses
Overnll thera was a total actuarial loss af £0.4 million (20213 £0.2 ruillion actuarial gain} during the year, which is broken down as follows.

Financial assumpiions resulted ina gain of £33.8 millfon , mainly due ta the increase in ths discount rate assumipuion. This gain was partially offsct by the increase in the RPE inflation assuuption and rthw(.i inl'lal.inn-
linked ineréases. Temographic assunptions resuBted in a gain of 3.8 mitlion, mainly due to changes in the mortality assumption, in particular updating the €M1 projeciion model, DBO experience resulicd in a gain
oF £0.6 milLion, mainly due fo higher than expected deferred revaluation and peusion increses over the year. Thuring the year, asset retuons underperforrmed agoinst the discount rare, This was encirely dus ta the value
0f the pritiry acser, the insurance contract, being set to cqual the value of the Habilities.

Capllal commitments 2022 102§

£'G00 £000

Capitad colpmitments
Cantracted for, but nat pravided far, acquisition of property, plant and oquipment e 16519 A
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29, Cinancial Lo teanients aid Anauclad rbsk wans gemoal

The Group's operations e¥poses Ji to a vortety of financial risks, that inclade markes fisk {including imercst risk and price nsk), cesdil risk, Ngquidity cisk and capital risk. The Group seeke ta limit the adverse effects
ol'these rizks by menitoring levely of debt finance and the cefated finance ceats, and by matching the risks of the inancing with the risk and returm profites of the assels. The cisks are monitored by mansgement
throughoul tiie year via monthly reviews of the cperational perfonnance, cashflows, and tevels of debt instruments and overalt debt levels.

Chasses of finanelsl instruments

The Group's financial instruments comprise of inancial asstessuch as cash, sharl-teru deposits, trade and other receivables, Fnancial fiabilities such as bank loans, Jpan notes, and trade and other payobles,

The following (able <lassifies Wha Growp's fioansiol asscis s liablities,

2022 1021
£'040 £'000
Finanefal nssets at amartlsed cast
Trade end other receivables (note 18) 91,858 75,712
Cash and cash equivalents 35013 102,9E5
Total financial assets at amortised cost 126.97] 178,627
Finaoclal iabillties at amartised eosi
Trede and ativer paysisles {note 22) {178,552} (99,248]
Leasc linbitities fnote 1 7) (L7145 (1.674,086
Loanis and ather borrawiags (note 19) (161 848y {218,848
Tetal Nranckal Uabilltles at amortised cost (1057857} (1,993,182}

The group has no finnefal insteuments slassified as fair vahue throngh other comprehiensive income or fair value through prafit and foss.
ay Market elsk

Market risk is the risk that changes in mackel prics, such as interast rates or other price risks, will affect the Income from o the value of finaneial instoumients. The objactive of markel risk managementis to manage
and control market risk exposure within acceplable p il imising the retum on risk.

The Group is primarily impacted by inlerest rate #isk and ether price risks which are cwdlinad below:

1) Tntecest rate rlsk
Financial instruments affecied by Interest rate risk iaelude loant and other borrowings. The Group is primarily sensilive o changes in UK intercst sates. This affects future cash fows from loans and horrewings

held,
Fired
£'000
At 31 December 2022
Laans aud oiher borrowings {note 19) 161848
At 3 December 201
Loans and oiher bamowings {note 19) 119,848
2} Other grice clsks
"The Growp has a number of loag-term contracts intng fixed indexation g . The Group generally seeks 1o price cantracts ol levels that take account of increasing prices. As the volume of privats

Ppatieits is anticipated toincrease i the future, the Group will be ncreasingly subject 1o pricing changes from privale insurancs companies,

The integrated core conlracts operile under 8 capped revenus budgel. The underlying pringiple assumed thal the servics tan be run more efficicatly, inproving patient experience and reducing opezational costs,
Nevertheless, he Group bears the risk of dsing operational costs as the baseline reventie is fixed subject to local demagraphic er service pertfolio changes,

b) Credit rlsk

Credit risk iy the risk if [inancial loss 1o the Group [s a customicr or counter-party te a financial instrument fails to met its cottraclusl obligations, and ariscs principally Jeom llse Group's reccivable (rom cuslonxrs
and eash depogies, with thelr maxintitt expostire Seing represented by their carying amount.

Tha Group bas policies with customars that require unfront payment, where appropriate. Credit control provedurea are designed lo ensure that invoiced revenuc is collected according to agreed terms, that palicies
£xist to fmit exposuse ta any one party and ensure approved cradit limits are reviewed ragutarly. These help to eliminate sipnificant concantrations of eredit risk

Most revenues arise from instred patients’ business and the NHS. Inswred patieats give rise (0 (rade receivables which arc mainly due from large jasurance Instituifons, who have high credit worthiness, The
rempinder of revenue asises fom individl self-pay potients,

Tn aceordance with TFRS 9, an expected ¢radil loss model is us«d to calculate the provision for impairment. This expeated credit lnss 1akes into cansideration the age of debtor balances, and the chametedsiics of the
debtor. Crodit risk management services are designed wo ry and reduce the expected credit loss 1o 2 minimum,

‘When utillsing bank accounts and cash depasits, the Group transacts with counlerparties who have seund credit profiles, Such counterpartics aré primarity lacge, highly rated financial institutions, Tn relation te
Fnanzial instirtions, the Group alkoaled a credit imit based on exiemal credit ratings. The counterparty’s tolal outstanding rangactions with the Group including hauk sccounts aod cash deposits must pot cxceed
timits agreed by the Board of irectars,

) Liquidity sk

Liquidity risk 1s (he risk thot the Group will encounter difficolly in meeting its financial shligations as they fatl dac. The Groug’s approach te liquidity is 10 manage shert and long-term borrowings to ensuwre thal it
will alsvays bave soffcient liquidity 16 pects its Babililies when due, withou) incoxring unacesprable lossses or fsk damaging Yee Group's repulation

This is achieved by robusily managing <ash generation ceross ils operation, by applying cash calievtion targets throughout the Group and by nianaging liquidity risk via long-term debi and equity funding from
shareliolders.

Tha table below analyses the Geoup's non-derivathie and derivative financial Jiabilities inta relevant maturity groupings based an the remaining peried at the batancs sheat data to the cantraet matudey date. The
amounts incinded in the fable are the contractusl undiscounted cash fows:
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¥lnancial lactraments and financlal risk manngement (continned)

) Liquldity rlsk feontinied)

Less than | year Betneen 1-2 years Delween 2-1 years Bebweeh 3-5 years Qver Syears
At 31 December 2022 £'000 £000 frato £'700 £'000
Trade amd other payables {note 223 (178,553) - - - -
Lease liabilisies {note 17) {133,084) f138,245) {140,906) {284,985) 13,529,988)
Loans ond other borroswings (note 19} - (1.848) (160,000} - -
Net outflons (316,620) (140,093) (300,506} (286,985) (3,519,988)
At )] December 2021
Trade and other payables (noLe 22) (99,248) - - - -
Lease liabilities fnote 17) {126,055) (128,283 (129.748) (264,664) (3,587,243)
{005 and ather barrowings {nole 19} - - - - (215,848)
Net ontfiys (225,303) (128,283) (129,746) (264,664) (3,807,09¢)

Lease liabilities cashflaws are discounted 1o atrive at the balance sheet position per note 17, The impact of the discourling is £2,516.7 million (2021: £2,656.7 million) over the reanining lerm af the feases,

d) Capital management

The primary gbjeelive of the Giroup's managemient of del and quily is ta cnsine the continaed growth of tie business, iachdring the financing af wew hospitak, equipatent snd stea-up costs, Geleding Hexd Office
costs, in order to provide retums for the Group shareholders and other stakeholders, The Group rafses fnancing when needed ihwough a combination of debt and equity.

agreenients. Covenanta oa the debt facilities utilised by the Group are tested on s quarterly

Objectives are set out ot the beginning of cach year, in line wilh the imposad i and af the
basis.

Evanis after the reporting periad

On 28 August 1023, it was sanouneed thal o definilive agreement hiad been signed whereby PureHealth will acquire Ciscle Heallh Graup from Ceatene Carparatian with the lransaction s expected to close in the first
quarter of' 2024, The dircctors da nol believe that this imnsaction has any material impicl on the balancas recardad or the disclosures presented in these financial statements. Ad the date of signing the ullimate

party remaing unchanged, being Centenc C.

Reiried purty (ransactiony

Trading transactians with subsidlaries

During Lhe fivwcial year, trading Irensactions with 1be subsidiaries listed in note 14, occurred throughaut the year as part of the normal course of business.
Remirceration of key miditagement persanoel

Sec noie 7 for detafls on remrumeration of key manageruent persotel,

Other related party iransactions
Baknce autstanding as at

Transacitons 31 December

W22 2021 2021 021

£'800 £'000 000 £'000
Ribera Salud Group (subsidiary of the Group's ultimate parent} * (1,435} {1,226) - -
Assodiates {1.53T) 1682 273 LE1D
Joind ventures {32} 783 (84} {52}

*Transactions wilth Ribers Salud Group related (o consultancy services received. Ribera Salud Group ceased to be a related parly dusing the year as the Group's witimate paseat completed its diverstitare of Ribees
Salud Gronp in November 2022,

Transactiogs with associates and join! venture occurned throughiau the year as parl of the normat course of basiness.

The tolal dividends reeeived from nsiesiates and joint venlures during the year can be seen in the cashilow atatement. ANl dividends declared were paid in the year and here ware ne dividends reievable ot the yoor
end.

The abave relatet party Salances are unsecured, incur na interest and are repayablc an demand. Mo expenss has been cognised in the current or prior year for bad or doubfu] debis in respect of fiese amaunts. The
abowe related party balances arg included within olher receivaliles nnd payablies respectively.

Conrralling party

The Directors regard MH Services Tnternational {UK) Limited, u Company regisiored in England and Wales, s the Company's immediate parent underaking, as at the 31 Freemher 2022, The Directors Fegand
Centena Corporation as the Company’s ulimate parent underlaking and eontrolling party as at the 31 Tecember 2022,

Cirele Health Holdiogs Limiled is the parent undertaking of the smaltest group for which conselidatzd financial siatcments ace prepared that include the financial stalements of the Company. Ceutche Corporation is
Ihe paremt undertaking of the largest group for which consolidated financial siareniemts are prepared that include (e financial state of the Com Centene Cerp ion is o publicly ¢rmded company
incarporated in the United States of America. Centene Corporation's registered address is 7700 Focsyth Bivd, St Louis, dr 63105,
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Fixed assels
Investiments
Loans to group companies

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium

Other reseryes
Accumulated Josses

Total shareholder's funds

Notes

10

13
13

31 Decewber

31 Decenmibe

2022 2021
£000 £000
75,211 75,211
206,701 121,714
281,912 196,925
1,856 90,005
5 14,964
1,361 104,969
(99,150) (116.,699)
(97,289) (11,730
184,623 185,195
57 21
201,440 201,476
6,523 .
(23,397) (16,302)
184,623 185,195

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own income
statement in these financial statements. The loss made by the Company for the year was £7.1 million (2021: £2.7

million).

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings L.imited were approved by the board of directors and authorised

forissue on .2 D NOVEBIERED e, 2023.

They were signed on its behalf by:

7N, N

Name: Henry Davies
Director

2 NONEING . 2023

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The company's registered address is 15t Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Called up Share Other Accumulated
share capital premium reserves losses Total
£000 £:000 £°000 £000 £:000

Balance as at 31 December 2020 21 101,476 - (13,844 187,653
Amounts vested under IFRS 2 {note 12) - - - 213 213
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - 2,671) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 - (16,302) 185,195
Other movements 35 (36) - - -
Equity-settled share-based payment {note 13) - - 6,523 - 6,523
Loss and tatal comprehensive lnss for the year - - - (7,095) (7,095)
Balance as st 31 Decenther 2022 57 201,440 6,523 {23,397 184,623
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1 Aceounting policies

The Company’s accounting policies are included within those disclosed on pages 28 ta 37 of the Circle Health Holdings Limited consolidated group financizl
statements,
2 Critical accownting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

in the application of the Group's and Company’s accounting policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made sbout the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilitics thal are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimales and associated assumplions arc bascd on historical
experience and ather factors that arc considered 1o be relevant, Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The judgzments and eslimates that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial stalements, and could have &
malerial impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements tn applying the Group's accaunting policles

There are not deemed to be any critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Company's accounting policies in the financial
stalements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The koy assumptigns and estimates at the end of the reporting peréod, that have a significant risk of eausing a material adjusiment to the carrying amounts of

the assets and liabiliLies within tlic next financial year are discussed below:

Investments
Investments are recognised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The cammying amount of investmenis is assessed annually, and the

useful [ives of investments are considered to be indefinite, In the cvent that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequenily the carrying
value of investmients may bo impacted.
Recetvables

Receivables are vscognised at cost less provision for doubtful debts. The carrying amount of receivables is assessed annually, and provisions recognised based
on the customer specific circumstances. Tn the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequenily the carrying value of receiables

may be impacted,
3 Operating costs

The Company incurred £193,000 in relation to UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £5,000).

4 Employees

Other than the Directors, the entity did not have any employees during the year (2021: nil), and therefore did not incur any staff costs during the year (2021
£nil).

5 Directors' entolyments

Please refer to the Directors' entoluments nate in {he Circle Health Holdings Limited consalidated group financial statements (note 7).

[} Investments
Shares in subsidiary nndertakings
£2000
Cost and net book value
At 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2022 15,211

The Directors consider that the value of the Companys fixed asset investments are supported by their underlying assets. No provision for impairment of
investments has been made for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £nil).
See note 14 of the group financial accounts for a list of investments held by the Company.

7 Debtars

Amounts falling due within one year 31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£000 £000
Debtors - 42
Prepayments and accrued income 258 319
Amounts owed hy group subsidiaries - 89,644
Deferred tax (ses note 11) 1,598 -

1,856 50,005

Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand.
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Loans to group companies

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
£'000 £000

Auounits uwed by gioup subsidiaries 206,701 121,714

Loans to group subsidiaries ar¢ unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and ave repayable on demand. These balances have been classified
within foans 10 group companies as management do not expect these halances to be recovered within the foreseeable future.

Creditors - amounts falling due svithin one year
31 December 2022 31 December 2021
£2000 £2000

Trade and other creditors - 2
Amounts owed (o group undertakings 98,206 116,413

Accruals and deferred income 944 284
99,150 116,699

Amounts owed o Group undertakings are unsgcured, interest free, have no fixed date of repaymenis and are repayable on demand.

Deferred tax asset

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

£'000 £000
Beginning of the year - -
Credit to profit and loss account 1,516 -
Credit to equity (OCI) a2 -
End of the year 1,598 -

Deferred lax balances have been remeasured at the rates they are expected to reverse, which is mainly al 25%.

Share capital and share preidun
Refer to note 24 of the group financial accounts for details of share capital, share premiwm and amounts vesting under [FRS 2.

Equity-settled share-based payment

The long-term stock plan is a stack plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited. The Company grants under this plan
solely relate to Restricted Stock Units ("RSUs") and Perfarmance Stock Units ("PSUs") over $0.001 par value common stock in Centene Inc, and have no
cash cost to the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the ultimare pavent company granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans to selected dirgctors and employees
of the Company.

The accounting standards (IFRS2) require an accounting (non-cash) charge to be made in the financiat statements of the Circle Group for such awards, with
the corresponding credit taken to cquily given there is no liability for the Circle Group for sharcs awarded under the fong term stock plan.

The tota] accounting charge is calculated based on a number of factors and assumptions, and the amount recorded for the year related to emplayee share-
based plans was £6,523,000.

Further details of the stack plan are inctuded in Note 24 of the cansotidated financial statements.

FEvents after the reporting perlod

On 28 Angust 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Purellealth will acquire Cirele Health Group from Centenc
Corporation with the transaction is expected to close in the first quarter of 2024. The directars do not believe that this transaction has any material impact on
the balances recorded or the disclosures pregented in these financial statemenis. At the date of signing the ultimate contralling party remains unchanged,
being Centene Carporation.
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Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption from disclosing transactions with other members of the Group headed by Circle Health Holdings
Limited, provided that each party ta the transaction is a whally-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultimate parent undertaldng and controlling party

The Directors regard MH Services International (UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Wales, as the Company's immediate parent undedaking,
as at the 3} December 2022, The Dircclors regard Centene Corporation as the Company's ultimate parent undertaking and controliing party as al the 31
December 2022,

Circle Health Holdings Limited is the parent undertaking of the smallest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared that include the
financial statements of the Company. Centene Carporation is the parent nndertaking of the largest group for which consolidated financial statements arc
prepared that include the financial statements of the Company. Centene Corporation is a publicly traded company incorporated in the United States of
America. Centene Corporation's registered addiess is 7700 Forsyth Blvd,, St. Louis, MO 63105.
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